

Lipedema: A Current Understanding of its Pathology and Natural History

Version 1 - May 2023

Contributors: Guy S Eakin¹, Stephanie Peterson¹

Contributor Affiliations

¹Lipedema Foundation, Greenwich, CT, USA

Contributor roles

Conceptualization and writing: Guy Eakin, Stephanie Peterson

Contact information:

roadmap@lipedema.org

Financial Disclosures:

Nothing to Disclose [GSE, SP]

This work is distributed under the terms and conditions of the <u>Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY)</u> license. The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. © 2023 Lipedema Foundation, Some Rights Reserved

Table of Contents

| Vision | 3 |
|--|---------------|
| Introduction | 3 |
| Challenges of Lipedema Research | 4 |
| The Role of Lipedema Diagnosis in Research | 4 |
| Lipedema Diagnosis – Commonly Cited Features | 5 |
| Family History and Genetics | 5 |
| Hormonal Change, Age of Onset, and Possible Initiators of Lipedema | 7 |
| Adipose and the Development of Nodules and Textural Changes | 8 |
| Immune Influences on Symptoms | 11 |
| Edema and Symptoms Related to Swelling | 11 |
| Neural Involvement and Pain | 15 |
| Biological Drivers of Tissue Textural and Elasticity Changes | 17 |
| Vascular Fragility and Potential Vascular Issues | 18 |
| Lipedema Diagnosis – other features | 19 |
| Staging and Types of Lipedema | 20 |
| Frequent Comorbidities | 22 |
| Epidemiology of Lipedema | 23 |
| Racial Diversity in Lipedema Research | 24 |
| Health related Quality of Life (hrQOL) and Patient Reported Outcome Measures | 25 |
| Statement on Medical Reimbursement | 27 |
| Conclusions | 27 |
| Appendices | 28 |
| Appendix A: Figures | 28 |
| Figure A1. Histology Illustration Outlining Tissue Architecture. | 28 |
| Appendix B: Tables | 29 |
| Table B1. Lipedema Signs and Symptoms, Comorbidities, and Demographics in Primary Da | ata Papers 29 |
| Table B2. Histology Characterization in Lipedema Samples | 34 |
| Table B3. Assessments of Lymphatic Structure and Function in Lipedema | 37 |
| Acknowledgements | 44 |
| History of Contributions | 44 |
| References | 45 |

Vision

Millions of women around the world live with Lipedema, a chronic, stigmatized, and painful condition. While research is beginning to document the toll Lipedema takes on their lives and relationships, it remains largely unknown in both patient and medical communities. For too many, a diagnosis of Lipedema is ignorantly dismissed as obesity. Lipedema has for 80 years been relegated to a quiet corner of the research community. It is time to bring Lipedema into the open and set forth a roadmap that provides the path to improved recognition and care based on the same standards of evidence that we expect of any serious condition.

Introduction

Despite 80 years of inquiry, Lipedema remains a poorly understood condition. Today, fewer than 250 primary experimental data and case studies characterize the entirety of what is known to the research community. In the absence of high-quality prospective data, the safety and efficacy of many common treatments must be predicted from the experience of individual practitioners or from research successes in related conditions. Thus, in addition to the statistical challenges conferred by perennially low study sizes, Lipedema research is further complicated by limited knowledge in foundational areas. These include lingering questions related to its natural history, diagnosis, and therapeutically important concerns such as appropriateness of endpoints selected for current studies, or adverse events that might specifically be predicted for a Lipedema population.

Many reviews of Lipedema research exist. Indeed, reviews of Lipedema have, at times, outnumbered the primary data reports (Eakin, 2022). As in many fields, the favored works cited by these reviews become canon as a function of merit, but also repetition. The consequence is that older or more peripheral works disappear from citation. This historically facing component of the Roadmap strives to reevaluate these original data wherever possible. In doing so, an attempt has been made to balance modern, technology-rich, insights with an honest examination of historical data otherwise lost to the cycle of review and repetition. The available literature describes an immature field, often characterized by underpowered studies, rare attempts at reproducibility, and substantial challenges to comparability across studies owing to the uncatalogued diversity of the condition and site to site variations in diagnosis and data collection standards. The opinions expressed here are limited by the volume – and often the quality – of available data.

These are challenges, but they are challenges that are consistent with a developing field. While the field of Lipedema research is characterized by less than 300 primary data publications, it should also be realized that half of these have been published in the last four years. This renewed attention is an exciting moment for Lipedema research. The companion effort of this review provides a forward-facing framework by which research initiatives may be prioritized for their potential to support improvements

in the clinical research environment and guide the field towards a future in which well-designed, and appropriately powered clinical research is not only possible, but expected. Finally, the Roadmap is envisioned as a "living" and editable document, that should be reviewed and updated periodically with attention to progress toward goals established here and in future versions. For this reason, it is published to the Lipedema Foundation website, so that its content can be readily edited as new versions become necessary.

Challenges of Lipedema Research

- Progress is limited by a reliance on a clinical diagnosis for which there is practice-to-practice variation in choice and implementation of available diagnostic criteria. This limits the availability of a confident diagnosis to a limited number of experienced clinicians that is too small to currently address the public health burden of Lipedema. This holds consequence for both the timeliness and availability of a diagnosis for the public, but also limits the access of the research enterprise to adequate numbers of Lipedema patients required for well-powered studies. Likewise, reliance on a clinical diagnosis limits the ability to identify sub-clinical or prodromal Lipedema to complex longitudinal studies.
- 2. Societal stigma against obesity and gender that manifests at several levels. Stigma is believed to affect availability of care. A tendency to misdiagnose as obesity has the effect of prioritizing behavioral interventions that have little evidence of disease modifying effect. Such stigmas set barriers to accessing care coverage for standard treatments.
- 3. Lack of research data related to understanding the diversity with which Lipedema presents, and how Lipedema may differ by genetics, race, comorbidities, or sociodemographic factors. Subgroups within Lipedema populations are currently defined narrowly by stage, which does not account for all biological aspects of pathogenesis and symptoms, effects on quality of life, or interplay between these features.
- 4. Lack of public and professional awareness reduces the available workforce and patient population necessary to recruit and execute large studies.
- 5. Lack of commitments to research investment from both public and private sources. Consequently, Lipedema research is limited and characterized by
 - a. Small and underpowered studies
 - b. Lack of knowledge of risk factors other than female sex and family history
 - c. Largely undocumented prevalence and burden of illness
 - d. Lack of medical coding facilitating either reimbursement or research
 - e. Variable terminology used to describe Lipedema and its features

The Role of Lipedema Diagnosis in Research

Lipedema is an irreversible, chronic condition first identified as a clinically distinct entity in the mid-20th century (Allen and Hines, 1940; Wold et al., 1951). Lipedema-like features are described in other medical literature sources that predate Allen and Hines (Laignel-Lavastine and Viard, 1912; Lyon, 1910; Moncorps et al., 1940). The organized reporting of Lipedema's diagnostic features, however, remains credited to Allen, Hines and Wold. The clinical diagnosis of Lipedema has remained relatively consistent

from these first papers and now includes formally developed guidances and consensus statements derived from expert opinion (Alcolea et al., 2018; Bertsch and Erbacher, 2020; Halk and Damstra, 2017; Karen L Herbst et al., 2021; Reich-Schupke et al., 2017; Wounds UK, 2017), including efforts at formalized approaches such as facilitated Delphi (Karen L Herbst et al., 2021) or self-organizing formats such as Open Space Technique (OST) (Bertsch and Erbacher, 2020).

While these publications clearly serve clinical needs, the effect of the reliance on clinical research is worth commenting on because, taken together, these documents form the basis for the diagnostic criteria most frequently cited in published literature. However, no experimental comparisons of different guidances or dissemination and implementation studies of individual guidances have been reported. Each guidance must, therefore, be considered as potentially capable of defining different clinical populations. In the absence of an understanding of implementation, specifically adherence of individual clinicians to a specific guidance, there is little formal ability to predict interrater reliability between individual clinicians, even if ostensibly using the same diagnostic criteria.

Within research manuscripts, the reporting of specific criteria and study inclusion and exclusion criteria is not universal. Together these issues represent a significant barrier to comparison between studies and underscore the need for technologies that assist the clinical diagnosis with well-defined measurements.

Despite these concerns, the available diagnostic strategies have suggested several symptoms and signs that can be associated to Lipedema with varying levels of background evidence. A review of both commonly cited and less frequently discussed features of Lipedema, organized by biological concept, follows.

Lipedema Diagnosis – Commonly Cited Features

Family History and Genetics

Since the original descriptions of the condition, a positive family history for similar body shape and symptoms has been linked to Lipedema. In these earlier studies, a positive family history was recorded in 16% of individuals (Allen and Hines, 1940; Wold et al., 1951). More contemporary studies suggest that the range may be higher, with lower estimates ranging 30-50% (Burnand et al., 2011; Crescenzi et al., 2018; Forner-Cordero et al., 2012; Harwood et al., 1996; Ketterings, 1988; Romeijn et al., 2018) and higher estimates ranging from 64-89% (Cornely et al., 2022; Forner-Cordero et al., 2018; I. Forner-Cordero et al., 2020; Grigoriadis et al., 2022; Herbst, 2012; Kruppa et al., 2022; Naouri et al., 2021; Ghods et al., 2020; Grigoriadis et al., 2022; Herbst, 2012; Kruppa et al., 2022; Naouri et al., 2010). To date, no single allele has been demonstrated to convey significant risk for Lipedema. Earlier reports of an autosomal dominant inheritance pattern with sex limitation (Child et al., 2010) have largely been replaced with a polygenetic view of Lipedema risk (Grigoriadis et al., 2022; Michelini et al., 2022). Abnormal karyotypes, particularly chromosomal rearrangements at 12q13~15, have been observed in half of non-Lipedema lipomas, but have not been reported in Lipedema affected tissues (PANAGOPOULOS et al., 2015).

It remains unclear what role single allele variants will play in Lipedema risk relative to individuals. A limited number of studies have proposed single locus variations in families with Lipedema, though whether these are causative of the underlying condition is unknown. Two separate whole exome sequencing efforts have been reported as the result of analysis of five (Bendon, 2017) and one

(Michelini et al., 2020) families with Lipedema. Two other case study reports have associated Lipedema with positive candidate gene approach findings for POU1F1/PIT1 (Bano et al., 2010) and NSD1 (Zechner et al., 2009). A subsequent multi-candidate gene association approach surveyed 305 loci with plausible relationships to Lipedema or closely related disorders (Michelini et al., 2022). The study reported 17 predicted deleterious lesions in 21 of the 162 participants with plausibility for a mechanistic relationship to Lipedema. MTHFR polymorphisms have been associated with a greater risk for Lipedema amongst women with Lipedema-like body composition and morphology (Gualtieri et al., 2023). At this time, none of the candidate gene or whole exome data appear strongly associated with Lipedema in GWAS results.

A recent Genome Wide Association Study of 130 individuals identified 6 loci associated with body shape, lipoma formation, adiposity, and sex-hormone biology (Grigoriadis et al., 2022). A complementary study, explored an inferred phenotype in the UK Biobank based on high fat percentage in legs and low waist to hip ratio in 24,450 cases, identified 18 associated loci with similar predicted pathway involvements, and replicating associations for markers near VEGFA and GRB14-COBLL1 (Klimentidis et al., 2022). This is directionally consistent with transcriptomic profiles from other sources suggesting involvement of similar pathways in Lipedema, albeit that transcriptomic profiles more frequently demonstrate immune features e.g. (Felmerer et al., 2020a; Ishaq et al., 2021; Ma et al., 2020; Nankam et al., 2022; Strohmeier et al., 2022). No studies to assess epigenetic contributions to Lipedema are currently available. Little crossover is evident between Lipedema GWAS and associations reported for primary lymphedemas or lipodystrophies. LHFPL6 association has been reported in both Lipedema and in lipoma development (Petit et al., 1999). Yet, associations uncovered through GWAS are correlative and lack functional validation that would support their potential causative role in Lipedema as well as replication in additional cohorts.

No specific early onset variation of Lipedema is known that might represent an early clinical model of Lipedema. Some reports of Lipedema onset in children less than 10 have been reported (Bauer et al., 2019; Herpertz, 2004; Romeijn et al., 2018; Vaquero Ramiro et al., 2021; Wold et al., 1951). A positive family history of Lipedema was also reported for all women who reported onset of symptoms prior to age 10 (Lipedema Foundation, 2022a).

The preponderance of studies reporting a positive family history of Lipedema suggest that studies pursuing a genetic basis for Lipedema are likely to continue to uncover heritable contributions to Lipedema risk. It is likely that Lipedema risk is influenced by many loci, and onset may be triggered by environmental, endocrine, or other complex exposure events. The sensitivity of individuals to these triggers is, itself, likely to be dependent on genetic background. If genetic determinants are confirmed, this would support shifting conceptualization of Lipedema as a syndrome to a disorder of associated molecular pathways. In addition to the need for larger studies, future genetics work will benefit from identification of new and well-characterized cohorts, for which substantial clinical data related to symptoms and comorbidities is available and detailed diagnostic inclusion and exclusion criteria is disclosed.

In addition to advancing discovery in Lipedema research, genetic approaches serve as the basis of biomarker and therapeutic discovery. The multi-factorial and polygenic origins of Lipedema risk suggest both an opportunity and need for rigorously developed risk calculators, that may precede development of diagnostic biomarker or imaging strategies but provide significant utility as screening tools for both clinical decision-making and recruitment to research studies.

Hormonal Change, Age of Onset, and Possible Initiators of Lipedema

The canonical features of Lipedema describe a condition that nearly exclusively affects women, with rare reports of affected males. The age of onset is generally consistent with times of hormonal change, predominantly appearing at puberty (15.7-67.3%), but with substantial numbers of patients describing onset at pregnancy/lactation (9.5-63.1%), menopause (1.9-21%), or in association with supplemental hormones such as oral contraceptives (1.2-3.8%) (Table B1. Lipedema Symptoms and comorbidities reported in primary data). These values are generally consistent with patient reports in online surveys (Fetzer and Fetzer, 2014; Kruppa et al., 2022; Lipedema Foundation, 2022a).

Prepubertal (children less than 10 years) incidence of Lipedema has been reported (Bauer et al., 2019; Lipedema Foundation, 2022a; Schook et al., 2011; Vaquero Ramiro et al., 2021) and may suggest that hormonal changes are sufficient but not necessary to initiate Lipedema. In the Lipedema Foundation Registry, such cases are always associated with a positive family history of Lipedema.

In the absence of longitudinal studies, or robust animal models, the role of hormonal change in Lipedema remains fundamentally a patient reported component of the clinical history. As yet, primary research data that demonstrates an association of sex hormones to the patho-etiology of Lipedema has not been published, though possible mechanisms have been recently reviewed (Al-Ghadban et al., 2021; Katzer et al., 2021).

While numerous studies have reported symptoms occurring at times of hormonal change, with estimates ranging from 57-69% (Bauer et al., 2019; Dudek et al., 2016, 2018; Fetzer and Fetzer, 2014; Herpertz, 2004; Kruppa et al., 2022; Lipedema Foundation, 2022a; Romeijn et al., 2018; Vaquero Ramiro et al., 2021), no thorough examination of the role of sex hormones in Lipedema has been completed. To date, only correlative evidence is available to document the relationship of sex hormones to Lipedema. AKR1C1 variance has been reported in three members of a Lipedema affected family where it is hypothesized to interfere with progesterone inactivation (Michelini et al., 2020). CPE, ZNF25 and ZNF33A have also been reported to be associated with Lipedema and estrogen biology by GWAS (Grigoriadis et al., 2022). Recently SVF, endothelial, and PC cells were shown to express ZNF423, which may be regulated by estrogen response elements (Strohmeier et al., 2022). Conference presentation data has also reported mast cells in Lipedema may also express less progesterone receptors (Rosas et al., 2018). Several hypotheses about the role of sex hormones in Lipedema have been recently proposed in literature reviews (Al-Ghadban et al., 2021; Katzer et al., 2021; Szél et al., 2014).

Irrespective of the available hypotheses, no focused studies of menstruation or sex hormone assessments are available in the published Lipedema literature. Indeed, references to simple tests such as urinalysis are exceedingly rare. These are often limited to older literature (Laignel-Lavastine and Viard, 1912; Moncorps et al., 1940), or provided as supportive data related to infectious disease or dietary adherence (Kenani et al., 2008; Sørlie et al., 2021). Nevertheless, results of urinalysis or biospecimens related to known Lipedema patients may be available in medical records and amenable to secondary analysis. Urine may be collected as part of clinical care (Foeldi, 2008; Tiwari et al., 2006, 2003), and may also be associated with extant biorepositories (e.g., UK Biobank)(Munguia et al., 2021).

The role of sex hormones could be informed by evaluation of rare cases of Lipedema in men, which are limited to case reports in published literature (Bano et al., 2010; Bertlich et al., 2021; Cadart et al., 2021; Chen et al., 2004; Child et al., 2010; Fife et al., 2010; Herbst et al., 2015; Pereira de Godoy et al., 2022;

Wold et al., 1951). Development of male Lipedema has been attributed to altered sex hormone levels in several reviews (Al-Ghadban et al., 2021; Katzer et al., 2021; Szél et al., 2014). The case reports that support this include citation of unpublished data in a group of four males for whom individuals were reported to show signs of hormonal dysregulation including hypogonadism and gynecomastia. Two individuals from this series were described as 'testosterone-depleted" (Child et al., 2010). A separately reported case ascribed "secondary hypogonadism" in a single male (Herbst et al., 2015). However, testosterone and free T4 levels were reported at normal values when measured in a male with Lipedema presumably due to POU1F1/PIT-1 mutation (Bano et al., 2010). Two cases of Lipedema in men with Klinefelter syndrome (XXY) have been reported wherein low testosterone levels were recorded. One case initiated hormone replacement, but no improvement in the Lipedema was seen at one year (Cadart et al., 2021). Lipedema like features may also be evident in both men and women with Williams Syndrome, though an evaluation of hormonal levels has not been reported (Waxler et al., 2017).

Despite the rarity in published research, male Lipedema-like signs and symptoms could be underreported. Because the current diagnostic criteria rely heavily on disproportionate mass accumulation, males with a greater predisposition towards visceral adipose tissue accumulations may be less likely to be identified as Lipedema-like. In the Lipedema Foundation Patient Registry report, 6-7% of women with Lipedema suspect the presence of Lipedema-like features in genetically-related male siblings (Lipedema Foundation, 2022a), though a recent pedigree analysis including fathers and grandfathers did not report similar findings (Hamatschek et al., 2022).

Interventions causing hormonal change have also been implicated in initiating Lipedema. Approximately 2%-4% of patients report onset of symptoms coincident with beginning oral contraceptives (Fetzer and Fetzer, 2014; I. Forner-Cordero et al., 2021; Ghods et al., 2020; Lipedema Foundation, 2022a). Clinical experience linking poor surgical outcomes to hormonal contraceptive use has also been reported (Sandhofer et al., 2017). An unpublished increase in Lipedema after cranial trauma and pituitary adenoma surgical correction has also been reported (Földi and Földi, 2006). Onset of Lipedema following gynecological surgery has been suggested in some cases (Allen et al., 2020; Fetzer and Fetzer, 2014). Despite this, bilateral oophorectomy has been shown to be associated with weight gain, but not increases in Waist to Hip Ratio (WHR) or SAT accumulation (e.g., (McCarthy et al., 2013)). A study of 552 cancer free women following both hysterectomy and oophorectomy, suggested that while increased total fat mass and decreased total lean mass were associated with surgery, these changes were distributed across anatomical areas, though this study was not specific to a Lipedema population (Karia et al., 2021). In addition, the influence of dietary estrogens and phytoestrogens, and any influence of microbiota (Ehrlich et al., 2017) have not been reported in Lipedema.

No Lipedema specific study of adverse events associated with hormonal interventions (e.g., longitudinal studies of oral contraceptive use, or recipients of Gender Affirming Hormonal Therapy (GAHT)) currently exists. Such a study might serve to refine consideration of hormone based triggering events and might predict an initiation cohort of women at artificially higher risk for developing Lipedema.

Adipose and the Development of Nodules and Textural Changes

Lipedema appears as a bilateral and symmetric accumulation of mass, that generally appears disproportionately distributed to the lower half of the body, though many women with Lipedema will show overt evidence of upper arm involvement, variously reported as 24-90% (Ghods et al., 2020;

Herbst, 2012; Herbst et al., 2015; Herpertz, 1997; Kruppa et al., 2022; Lipedema Foundation, 2022a; Wollina and Heinig, 2019). Lipedema, in the absence of comorbidity, is generally described as sparing of the hands and feet (Wold et al., 1951) which can result in a cuff or collar appearance at the ankle and wrist (Brunner, 1969; Schmitz, 1980). Evidence exists in both patient report (Lipedema Foundation, 2022a) and medical literature (Herbst et al., 2015) documenting Lipedema-like signs and symptoms, especially nodular structures, in all areas of the body, albeit at considerably lower frequencies than found in thigh, buttocks, and upper arms. While the systemic impacts of Lipedema has not been thoroughly evaluated, the recent observation of increased preadipocyte determination factor, ZNF423, has been reported in abdominal endothelial cells derived from people with Lipedema (Strohmeier et al., 2022).

Accumulation at specific sites has also been demonstrated as prominent malleolar fat-pads or a loss of sulci lateral to the Achilles tendon (Marshall and Schwahn-Schreiber, 2011; Rudkin and Miller, 1994; Wold et al., 1951; Wounds UK, 2017). Accumulation of adipose in the medio-posterior knee has also been demonstrated to associate with Lipedema (Brunner, 1982; Stallworth, 1974; Unlu and Kartal, 2018; Wollina et al., 2014; Wounds UK, 2017) and may be specifically associated with pain on palpation (Stallworth, 1974).

Since its earliest description, Lipedema has been associated with changes in the subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) (Allen and Hines, 1940; Rank and Wong, 1966; Wold et al., 1951), which is generally considered less associated with hypertension and insulin resistance risk than accumulation of visceral adipose tissue (VAT) (Fox et al., 2007; Scheuer et al., 2015). SAT accumulation is, however, associated with adipose disorders involving pain (Foeldi and Foeldi, 2010; Herbst, 2019; Lemaitre et al., 2021). And more generally, Lipedema affected adipose has been described as bloodier than unaffected adipose depots (Ishaq et al., 2021), which may account, in part, for anecdotal descriptions of distinct odors to Lipedema adipose apparent during surgery.

Most, but not all, diagnostic criteria and studies addressing weight loss report a resistance to dietary and exercise interventions. Similarly, outcomes of bariatric surgery may demonstrate reduction of total fat mass, but this loss of mass is less likely to reduce volume in affected areas, or other symptoms such as pain (Bast et al., 2016; Cornely et al., 2022; Wounds UK, 2017).

Those that caveat these observations may attribute successful weight loss to the loss of otherwise normal excess adipose (e.g., obesity) (Bertsch and Erbacher, 2020; Reich-Schupke et al., 2017). An understanding of the pathophysiological differences between tissue with lipedema and otherwise healthy adipose remains a significant gap in our research understanding, despite recent progress characterizing the molecular and cellular differences between the two tissue types (Al-Ghadban et al., 2019; Felmerer et al., 2020a).

Imaging studies demonstrate enlargement of the SAT and thickened skin in affected areas. More recent work has provided more detailed understanding of the manner by which distribution of adipose differs from that of Body Mass Index (BMI)-matched controls, revealing highest SAT volume to muscle volume ratios in the mid-thigh (Crescenzi et al., 2020, 2018; Taylor et al., 2023) and (Åström et al., 2001) – unavailable for review). Body composition measurements of android to gynoid fat mass, and leg to trunk fat mass have been evaluated by dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA). In a study of 49 women with Lipedema, significant differences relative to BMI matched controls were reported for low BMI individuals (Dietzel et al., 2015). A separate study of 74 women with Lipedema, suggested exclusion of

Lipedema from consideration in differential diagnosis may be supported at high sensitivity the ratio of leg fat mass to total fat mass calculated from DEXA is less than 0.38 (Buso et al., 2022). Stromal Vascular Fraction (SVF) yield following liposuction has also been reported to be greater in people with Lipedema than control populations (Priglinger et al., 2017).

In healthy tissue, adipose cells are arranged in lobules, and delineated from other lobules by collagenrich and elastin-rich fibrous septa, with fibrogenic and adipogenic progenitor cells distributed through both the somatic and septal compartments (Estève et al., 2019). Subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) is likely to contain fewer cells, and is less enervated than Visceral Adipose Tissue (VAT), but may be more densely populated by capillaries and exhibit greater potential for vascular remodeling (Gealekman et al., 2011; Redondo et al., 2020). The lymphatic network accompanying lobules may display depot specific architecture. SAT has been reported to be sparsely populated with lymphatic capillaries with little continuity to the more developed lymphatic network of the adjacent dermis (Redondo et al., 2020).

The histology of Lipedema-affected adipose is relatively limited. Lipedema adipose is generally described as fibrotic masses consisting of hypertrophic adipocytes that may show signs of infiltration by numerous capillaries, monocytes, and tissue mast-cells (Table B2. Histology Characterization in Lipedema).

Several specific questions complicate the interpretation of this literature. While some recent studies have provided high quality experimental data, many of the frequently cited works are single patient case reports, or individual panels used for illustrative purposes in literature reviews. In many cases the reports lack description of anatomical position, or the depth of the biopsy (see Figure A1 for tissue architecture).

These concerns aside, a limited number of publications offer perspective on the tissue architecture, details of which are presented in Table B2 and summarized as a thickening of both the dermis and the SAT along with increased fibrosis. The expansion of the SAT is typically reported as influenced by hypertrophic increases in cell diameter in both SAT and DAT (see, in particular, Al-Ghadban et al., 2019; Felmerer et al., 2020a; Von Atzigen et al., 2023; Wolf et al., 2021). Adipogenesis may also contribute to mass increases, based on direct visualization of increased adipose progenitor markers and cell cycle regulators such as CD34, ZNF423, ZIC1, UGT1A7, GREM1, TRIM67, Bub1 in biopsied tissue and SVF (Ishaq et al., 2021; Strohmeier et al., 2022). Adipose Stem Cell (ASC) derived from the thighs and abdomens from study participants with Lipedema (Al-Ghadban et al., 2020; Priglinger et al., 2017) have also been demonstrated to have higher proliferations rates than those derived from controls (Al-Ghadban et al., 2020). Such differences may be evident even in ASC derived from lean women with Lipedema (Ernst et al., 2023). Similar ASC reports have implicated increases in the cell cycle regulator, BUB1, as a potentially contributor to pathologic adipogenesis (Ishaq et al., 2021). An important consideration of such a proliferative environment would be to examine the developmental plasticity of resident cells. Evidence of calcium deposition has been reported (Ignjatović and Cerović, 1999; Pavlov-Dolijanovic et al., 2014; Taylor et al., 2004), and might suggest the possibility of a previously unknown osteosis phenotype in Lipedema affected adipose. Such a phenotype would be consistent with consideration of Lipedema affected adipose as a benign tumor and might inspire biomarker approaches ranging from cell cycle regulators as described above to telomere length testing.

Ongoing work to study the relative contributions of hypertrophy and hyperplasia in vivo, are likely to help clarify this aspect of Lipedema pathology and may suggest exploitable mechanisms for future therapeutics.

Many lingering questions remain. The degree to which sex hormone influences on Lipedema initiation affect adipose is unknown (Reviewed in Al-Ghadban et al., 2021; Katzer et al., 2021; Szél et al., 2014). One suggested hypothesis is that normal healthy adipose is mechanically constrained by fibrous septa. Fibrolytic pathways dependent on both estrogen receptor alpha (ER- α) and matrix metalloproteinase 14 might be perturbed in Lipedema, causing remodeling of the septa and providing a model for hormone influenced adipose tissue hypertrophy (Kruglikov et al., 2020). A common sign of Lipedema is occurrence of rigid nodular structures, described more fully in other portions of this document. A significant gap in the available literature is the lack of systematic attention paid to characterizing these prominent features both in terms of their frequency with SAT or DAT, and histological and molecular descriptions. Similar descriptions of intramuscular or perivascular adipose are not well-characterized in the literature in either the leg or in other areas of the body.

While immunohistochemical approaches to documenting candidate molecules will continue to play a role in characterizing Lipedema specimens, there is a strong need for unbiased assessments. Approaches such as single cell transcriptomics may pay significant dividends in cataloging types and activities of cells found in affected adipose.

Immune Influences on Symptoms

Immune contributions to Lipedema are relatively unclear, though implicated by observations such as increased tissue sodium (Crescenzi et al., 2020, 2018), and immune-related common comorbidities. Several studies have demonstrated macrophages resident to Lipedema affected adipose (Al-Ghadban et al., 2019; Felmerer et al., 2020b; Ishaq et al., 2021; Strößenreuther and Baumeister, 2001), and possibly proximal to areas of adipose necrosis (Suga et al., 2009). In one study, macrophages were not broadly distributed, but may have increased presence proximal to blood vessels, consistent with a leaky vessel hypothesis (Strohmeier et al., 2022). Increased expression of CD163 in Lipedema samples suggests polarization of macrophages to an M2 phenotype and a role in hemoglobin scavenging, which is consistent with increased vascular permeability, and release of anti-inflammatory cytokines (Felmerer et al., 2020b). A single report of a foamy lymph node, proximal to Lipedema affected adipose, is similarly suggestive of mobilization of macrophages (Ketterings, 1988).

Mast cell involvement in Lipedema has been observed by histology (Strößenreuther and Baumeister, 2001), including as CD117 positive cells in biopsied SAT (Al-Ghadban et al., 2019). A functional role for mast cells is speculative, but may be related to angiogenesis and remodeling of adipose (Divoux et al., 2012). As mast cells are typically responsive to bacterial infection, the recent hypothesis that bacteria derived lipopolysaccharides (LPS) in gluteofemoral white adipose tissue might stimulate a range of features consistent with Lipedema, including fibrosis and adipogenesis would also be consistent with mast cell recruitment to the same area (Kruglikov and Scherer, 2022). Lower levels of progesterone receptors on tissue resident mast cells in Lipedema have been observed, prompting a hypothesis that histamine release could affect local vascular permeability (Rosas et al., 2018)

Edema and Symptoms Related to Swelling

The role of the lymphatic system has proven challenging to understand as it relates to Lipedema. Various signs and symptoms associated with edema are widely reported both in LF's patient registry, surveys, and in research studies (Table B1). Clinically, a positive Stemmer sign has been associated with lymphedema (Stemmer, 1976). In this test, an inability to pinch the dorsum of the second or third toe is associated with lymphedema. A negative Stemmer sign is associated with a sparing of symptoms from the hands and feet and is frequently observed in association with Lipedema, though increased adiposity, fibrosis, and consequent lymphostasis may result in development of a positive Stemmer sign in later stage Lipedema patients (Földi et al., 1983), reviewed in (Kruppa et al., 2020).

The association of edema itself to Lipedema was documented in the original description of the condition (Allen and Hines, 1940), which placed enough importance on association to orthostatic edema as to warrant inclusion of this symptom in the title of the original paper. At the time of the original characterization of Lipedema, orthostatic edema was defined without reference to origin of fluid accumulation, and was considered related to a broader class of physiologic edema such as those related to venous compression during pregnancy as well as occlusive arterial diseases (Casanueva del Campo, 1950; Fairbairn, 1963). Streeten tests for edema due to capillary permeability have reported fluid retention in all stages of Lipedema, consistent with orthostatic edema (Foeldi, 2008; Forner-Cordero et al., 2012; Streeten, 1995; Szolnoky, 2011). Analysis of orthostatic edema with comparison between upper and lower extremities has not been reported in a Lipedema population.

Today, the presence or absence of edema in Lipedema is routinely debated. Some nuances of this debate may reflect semantic differences. Some authors may consider clinically significant fluid accumulation as the threshold for edema classification. This is in contrast to the pathogenetic perspective that any noteworthy accumulation of fluid should be considered as edema, whether or not it represents an indication for clinical intervention. This is tacitly acknowledged in one German language clinical review, that specifies that "[Leg swelling that does not present accumulation of water in the strict sense of the definition of edema is Lipedema]" (Ludwig and Vetter, 1989). Similarly, specificity of whether fluid accumulation may be a consequence of failures of capillary hydrostatic pressure, lymphatic function, or permeability-related edema (Scallan et al., 2010) may help to provide common ground to this debate. Finally, specificity between dermal and adipose confined edema represents a third axis by which this debate should be considered. For the purposes of this review, any ectopic fluid of any origin in proximity to Lipedema-affected adipose depots is considered worthy of remark and may support future hypothesis driven inquiry.

Clinical signs of edema in the context of Lipedema make reference to non-pitting edema (Allen and Hines, 1940; Wold et al., 1951), or use terms like "jelly-like/ sulzige Lipödem" (Ludwig and Vetter, 1989) to distinguish Lipedema fluid exam from that of lymphedema. Importantly, most of the frequently cited criteria for the Lipedema diagnosis allow for "minimal pitting edema" (Allen and Hines, 1940; Buck and Herbst, 2016; Halk and Damstra, 2017; Karen L Herbst et al., 2021; Reich-Schupke et al., 2017; Wold et al., 1951; Wounds UK, 2017). Guidelines that do not allow for any edema suggest that the presence of any edema is likely (Alcolea et al., 2018) or exclusively (Bertsch and Erbacher, 2020) comorbid and not associated with the "pure" Lipedema diagnosis. Patients commonly report a sensation of swelling and heaviness (reviewed below) that has been suggested as supportive of an underlying edema. This was recently compared to clinical measurements of thigh circumferences, in which the study authors failed to demonstrate statistical correlation between patient report and measurement (Erbacher et al., 2022). In this study, the relationship of circumference to circle area would suggest that the 11% variance in circumferential measurements would minimally imply that the study would have difficulty detecting

volume changes less than approximately 30%. It remains uncertain what change in limb volume is necessary to evoke sensations of swelling.

The existence of edema would suggest a mechanism for progression of Lipedema. In this scenario, a primary insult resulting in either adipose proliferation or lymphatic deficits would support a positive feedback loop whereby excess lymphatic fluid induces adipose remodeling that further perturbs local lymphatic structure (Kataru et al., 2020; Zampell et al., 2012), and has been suggested in Lipedema literature, for example (Földi and Földi, 1984; Herpertz, 1995). Alternative hypotheses have proposed that mechanical forces imposed by increased adipose volume may cause mechanical restriction of existing lymphatics (Damstra, 2013; Langendoen et al., 2009; Shin et al., 2011). Such stochastic events might contribute to the explanation of phenomenon in which the bilaterally symmetric accumulation of adipose might allow for asymmetric development of lymphatic abnormalities (e.g., Bilancini et al., 1995; Gould et al., 2020; Kinmonth, 1982). More recently, evidence of local inflammation in Lipedema affected adipose offer plausible scenarios under which tissue destruction and fluid accumulation might occur (Al-Ghadban et al., 2019; Felmerer et al., 2020b, 2020a; Ishaq et al., 2021; Strohmeier et al., 2022; Strößenreuther and Baumeister, 2001).

Evaluations of the lymphatic structure and function have been equivocating as to whether detectable changes should be considered incidental or intrinsic to the pathogenesis of Lipedema (Table B3. Structure and Function of Lymphatic Involvement in Lipedema). The preponderance of studies, however, suggests the possibility of an edema phenotype associated with Lipedema either as a primary or secondary effect.

Structurally, a recent retrospective study of ICG lymphangiographic images representing 40 women with Lipedema returned no significant structural finding in 85% of cases (Mackie et al., 2023). However, recent MR lymphangiographic data is consistent with the presence of edema in Lipedema-affected thighs and demonstrates patterns of accumulation that may be distinct from morbid obesity or lower extremity lymphedema secondary to oncology treatments. Recent blinded analysis of MR lymphangiography data reported characteristic hyperintense signals in the SAT of Lipedema patients as compared to females without lipedema (controls), including lymphedema. These results were similar in both women with and without a lymphedema diagnosis, suggesting a profile of subcutaneous edema that is unique to Lipedema (Crescenzi et al., 2022). This technique has advantages over traditional lymphangiographic techniques in that it is less susceptible to signal attenuation in deep tissues. This technique is less reliant on tracer perfusion, and not subject to toxicities or venous leakage that complicate usage of tracers such as gadolinium (Mazzei et al., 2017).

Histological assessment of lymphatic structure has inconsistently correlated perturbations of microvascular and lymphatic structure to Lipedema. Early evidence suggested dilation of vascular structures and localized fibrosis (Curri, 1984; Curri and Merlen, 1986). Recent immunohistochemical approaches have been inconsistent in replicating these findings. Demonstration of increased lymphatic vessel diameter, hypervascularity and dilatation of blood vessels infiltrating Lipedema affected adipose (Al-Ghadban et al., 2019; Allen et al., 2020) was not reported in similar analyses of vessel number and area (Felmerer et al., 2020b; Strohmeier et al., 2022; Von Atzigen et al., 2023). These latter reports were, however, suggestive of increased endothelial permeability, as evidenced by macrophage infiltration and morphological and functional changes to endothelial junctions. Conditioned media from Lipedema stromal vascular fraction has, additionally, been shown capable of inducing remodeling of

endothelial junctions (Strohmeier et al., 2022). Enlarged interfibrillar spaces have also been used as a proxy measurement for interstitial fluid accumulation and reported to be of larger volume in women with Lipedema compared to non-Lipedema controls (Allen et al., 2020). This has contributed to the hypothesis that edematous fluid from leaking capillaries may be ionically bound to glycosaminoglycans in the interstitial space, though this has not yet been experimentally tested, but should be amenable to many approaches including mass spectrometry (Herbst, 2020).

Analysis of human Lipedema tissues revealed a reduction of superficial lymphatics with the presence of deep lymphatic vessels surrounding the infiltrating fat in the dermis. The reduction of superficial lymphatics was associated with a reduction of Notch4 expression in the dermal lymphatics (Muley et al., 2021 and unpublished data). The suggestion of Platelet Factor 4 expression in people with Lipedema independent of comorbid obesity, though complicated by comparison to male controls, is also consistent with the presence of lymphatic impairments and deserving of follow-up (Ma et al., 2020). Characterization of lymphatic endothelial junctional connections has not been reported, but perturbation of zipper and button architecture is known to be associated with lymphatic impairment mouse models and human disease (Baluk and McDonald, 2022; Hägerling et al., 2018; Zhang et al., 2020), and may be suggested by studies of HUVEC cells exposed to Lipedema SVF conditioned media (Strohmeier et al., 2022). The cytokine rich environment of inflamed adipose is, likewise, consistent with expansion of local lymphatic network (Chakraborty et al., 2020).

Additional indirect evidence of fluid accumulation is implied by evidence of tissue sodium accumulation in calf skin and muscle in a manner correlated to pain and Lipedema stage (Crescenzi et al., 2020, 2018). Bioimpedance studies have also suggested that water content in legs with lipedema increases with Lipedema stage, and differs from water content in other adipose disorders (Dercum's disease) (Crescenzi et al., 2019). While it remains unclear what role or marker function might be suggested by elevated sodium, the demonstration of elevated sodium is evocative of patient observations that high sodium meals can lead to temporary exacerbation of symptoms. If supported by further research, therapeutic management of sodium offers an exciting hypothesis for study, as pharmacological and behavioral interventions are well-established, as are novel and minimally invasive opportunities for continuous monitoring of sodium (Bandodkar et al., 2014).

Taken together, these findings are evocative of the prelymphatic collector deficits and hyperpermeability of capillaries suggested in earlier works. Under this hypothesis, microstructural pathologies might increase fluid volume in the prelymphatic space, exceeding the capacity for local drainage (Brauer and Brauer, 2005; Curri and Merlen, 1986; Földi et al., 1983; Lohrmann et al., 2009; Partsch et al., 1988). To date, however, the only published Genome Wide Association Study (GWAS) for Lipedema, did not suggest association of any loci clearly suggestive of a primary role for the lymphatic system in Lipedema.

Lymphatic function has been separately addressed (Table B3) by numerous studies. Recent near infrared fluorescence lymphatic imaging (NIRFLI) of upper and lower limbs reported dilation of lymphatic vessels, and significantly higher lymphatic pumping rates than matched controls (Rasmussen et al., 2022), reminiscent of higher lymph flow reported in early studies (Ketterings, 1988). Radiographic evidence consistent with a Tertiary Lymphatic Organ (TLO), and similar to those seen in rheumatic conditions, was also reported in the NIRFLI study. These results suggest the possibility of compensatory changes to lymphatic function in early-stage Lipedema. Further exploration of these findings across Lipedema

stages is likely warranted, as therapeutic modifiers of lymphatic function are currently being developed. If lymphatic function is affected in a stage dependent manner, the safety of such therapies would be informed by these studies.

Additional alternative hypotheses also leave the door open for further study of edema in Lipedema. As tracer-based imaging modalities require injection of tracer, often to the foot, consideration of the location and depth of the injection is worthwhile. Interdigital injections have been reported to preferentially drain to anteromedial vessels. These vessels may be different in size, and be subject to differential utilization dependent on fluid loading (Shinaoka et al., 2020, 2019). Similarly, depth of injection may result in differential routing of tracer. Thus, the most common tools for clinical study of lymphatic structure and function may exhibit 'blind spots', especially in posterior and deeper lymphatics that may not be connected to the superficial lymphatic system (Barbieux et al., 2019). Though requiring replication, it is noteworthy that a single Lipedema cadaver study reported enlarged short saphenous vein and increased perivascular adipose (Caggiati, 2001; presented by Simarro, 2022). Because Lipedema is generally characterized as preferentially sparing of hands and feet, how differential utilization of lymphatic drainage pathways might account for this phenomenon is unreported in primary data.

The issue today is likely not to involve the question of whether lymphatic perturbation is associated with Lipedema, as the weight of the data emerging from prospective and statistically robust studies suggests this association strongly. More important to future therapeutics will be the answer to whether that disturbance is primary or secondary to the as-yet unknown mechanisms that initiate or maintain Lipedema. If primary, it will be important to consider potential systemic effects that might account for common comorbidities. Such future studies will need to pay careful attention to the above issues to allow comparison between studies. Recommendations in this include specific attention to the location and time to observation of tracer studies, and controls for both Lipedema stage and participant age. Future functional studies are also warranted and may help to understand whether measures of pump strength, synchrony, or other measures of lymphatic function might reveal distinct Lipedema-associated patterns.

Neural Involvement and Pain

Pain is not required in most published diagnostic criteria, though it is emphasized above other symptoms in some (Damstra et al., 2014; Lipedema Foundation, 2022b). Some contemporary clinical practices do require pain upon palpation of the thigh or inner knee for a Lipedema diagnosis. In other practices, pain is usually, but not always, associated with Lipedema, unlike obesity and lymphedema. For purposes of this review, pain is not considered a requirement for the Lipedema diagnosis, due to the variability of reporting of pain in the available literature, and the semantic conundrum imposed when pain is therapeutically remedied (i.e., if a non-disease modifying treatment eliminates pain, is Lipedema therefore cured?)

Onset of pain is poorly understood and complicated by varying terminology. In some literature, lipohypertrophy is considered a related or pre-Lipedema state in which adipose proliferates symmetrically, but is not associated with edema or pain (Bertsch and Erbacher, 2020; Brenner, 2005; Cornely, 2006; Herpertz, 1993; Von Atzigen et al., 2023). Recent reports that lipohypertrophic tissue has a different lymphatic and immune profile to Lipedema led authors to suggest that lipohypertrophy may be a clinically distinct entity from Lipedema (Von Atzigen et al., 2023). Adding to confusion, some subtypes of lipohypertrophy have been described as associated with pain (Szolnoky, 2011). Other literature does not make the distinction of a pain free prodromal stage (Karen L Herbst et al., 2021). The disparity between these two schools of thought is likely to diminish by the introduction of robust screening or diagnostic biomarkers, which may transform future approaches to Lipedema staging.

Estimations of the penetrance of the pain phenotype ranges dramatically. Original descriptions documented pain in 40% of patients (Wold et al., 1951) while more recent evaluations detected pain in up to 92% of patients (Forner-Cordero et al., 2018; Isabel Forner-Cordero et al., 2021; Herbst et al., 2015) (Table B1). More than half of patients categorized pain as severe or extremely severe in one study of Lipedema symptoms (Dudek et al., 2016). Prevalence of pain increases with disease stage, severity, or age (Allen and Hines, 1940; Chakraborty et al., 2022; Falck et al., 2022; Herbst et al., 2015), which could explain failure to detect pain in some study populations.

Lipedema associated pain is typically reported by patients as a function of intensity using Visual Analogue Scale (VAS) or similar unidimensional measurements. Some use of pain specific instruments has been reported (Chakraborty et al., 2022). Several reports have provided narrative descriptions of pain which confirm Lipedema pain as a multi-dimensional construct. Pain quality may differ by patient or over time (Melander et al., 2021; Schmeller and Meier-Vollrath, 2008). Multiple efforts have cataloged various descriptions of pain highlighting sensations such as "dull", "pressing", "throbbing", "tearing" or "nagging" as being most applicable, but with many patients describing their pain as sharp or piercing as well (Gensior and Cornely, 2019; Schmeller and Meier-Vollrath, 2008). Such descriptors may vary by stage or duration of disease, with radiating pain, stinging sensations, and allodynia described as temperature sensitivity or sensitivity to light touch being less common in earlier stages (Chakraborty et al., 2022). Pain perception may change throughout the day, has been reported to peak in evenings (Gensior and Cornely, 2019), and bears similarity to other chronic neuropathic pain conditions (Angst et al., 2020a; Grigoriadis et al., 2022)

Understanding of how pain is perceived in terms of intensity or quality, and how it interferes in patient lives, may help bring greater clarity to the utility in using pain as clinical endpoints in future research studies.

When present, pain may allow differentiation of Lipedema from other conditions. Cross-sectional validity of Patient Reported Outcomes Measures (PROM) designed to broadly address many domains of health-related quality of life (hrQOL) have been reported and have reported discriminant validity for pain relative to other conditions like lymphedema. These include the FLQA-LS physical complaints construct and SF-36 bodily pain construct (Angst et al., 2020b). Such results may not be as robust in other practices, as the authors' Lipedema diagnosis appears to have required pain. Dutch language versions of Rand-36 and EQ-5D-3L have separately been observed to differentiate between the general Dutch female population and Dutch women with Lipedema (Romeijn et al., 2018). An evaluation of this approach in a population diagnosed under other diagnostic criteria, or supported by a future biomarker, represents a gap in the available literature.

To date, no PROM for pain has been examined specifically in a Lipedema population, nor have minimal clinically important differences (MCID) been defined. Such studies would be important to allow interpretation of pain related PROM data in current and future Lipedema clinical studies.

Understanding the biological origin of pain in Lipedema is fundamental to providing therapies that durably control this symptom. Dermal neuronal loss has been reported in the abdomen of people with Lipedema, along with a progressive decrease in neuropeptides CGRP and NGF independent of BMI in thighs and abdomen (Chakraborty et al., 2022). Follow-up experiments in the same study, observed stage dependent mechanical allodynia in calves, arms, and thighs and were suggestive of a systemic Lipedema phenotype. A single study of three related women diagnosed with a pain-free Lipedema, has been reported, and identified an AKR1C1 mutation associated with the women, hypothesizing a GABAergic analgesic effect (Michelini et al., 2020).

Nerve conductance tests have not been systematically evaluated, but are provided in two case studies which reported a reduced amplitude of motor nerve action potentials in the sural and peroneal nerves, but no deficit in nerve conduction velocity or latency (Shin et al., 2011). From this a A β and CT-fiber mediated pain phenotype has been hypothesized (Brenner, 2017). A mechanical origin of pain in which nerve fibers become compressed by swelling or fibrosis remains attractive, but difficult to reconcile with the lack of pain in other adipose disorders. (Langendoen et al., 2009).

An inflammatory influence on pain has been frequently suggested, though until recently had been considered largely speculative. Identification of both pain dependent increases in tissue sodium, and decreases in specific neuropeptides involved in neuroinflammation have now been reported (Chakraborty et al., 2022; Crescenzi et al., 2020, 2018) and offer indirect support of an immune origin to nociceptive hypersensitization phenotype in Lipedema.

Therapeutic reduction of pain has been reported following conservative treatments including manual lymphatic drainage (Atan and Bahar-Özdemir, 2021; Donahue et al., 2022; Herbst et al., 2017; Schneider, 2020; Stallworth, 1974; Szolnoky et al., 2011; Volkan-Yazıcı et al., 2021), liposuction (Baumgartner et al., 2020, 2016; Dadras et al., 2017; Rapprich et al., 2011; Schmeller et al., 2012; Wollina and Heinig, 2019), and dietary interventions (Apkhanova et al., 2021; Cannataro et al., 2021; Di Renzo et al., 2021; Sørlie et al., 2021).

Biological Drivers of Tissue Textural and Elasticity Changes

Guidelines for clinical diagnosis frequently evoke clinically observable tissue texture changes as a common sign and symptom of Lipedema. Though original publications did not directly address deep 'nodular' textures, they reported a 'soft and pliable' quality to the skin (Allen and Hines, 1940). Later, descriptors such as translucency and "pseudo-peau d'orange" (Rank and Wong, 1966) or even "pig skin appearance" (Stallworth, 1974) were used to describe the surface appearance of patients' skin. These terms formed the original basis for a staging system relating severity of the condition to the size of subsurface textural irregularities (described below). The term 'nodule' may be misleading, as the term is often used to describe lipomas which, while similarly formed from expansion of adipose, are generally encapsulated. Although Lipedema 'nodules' have not been thoroughly examined histologically and molecularly, observations suggest there is no encapsulation of Lipedema 'nodules'.

To date, no study has precisely associated a "nodule" known to the patient and clinician by palpation, with a specific structure visible by typical imaging modalities or histology. Thus, a precise description of nodules is largely unknown, despite being a prominent feature for many women.

Tissue texture is related to the extracellular environment, including fascia. The effect of Lipedema on superficial and deep fascial organization is not published, but some ultrasound evidence has suggested that fascia may be discontinuous (Cestari, 2023; Iker, 2022) or dysmorphic (Sandhofer et al., 2017).

Various changes to the skin have been reported including translucency (Rank and Wong, 1966), thickening (e.g., Amato et al., 2021; Iker et al., 2019; Naouri et al., 2010; Unlu and Kartal, 2018; Von Atzigen et al., 2023) or increases in skin elasticity (Jagtman et al., 1984; Stallworth, 1974). More recent skin durometry tests in a mixed stage cohort have not replicated these findings (Zaleska et al., 2022), and the observation of skin thickening would seem at odds with reduced tone or translucency, and indeed was not found in one histological report (Strohmeier et al., 2022).

Proximity to dermal structures, such as sweat glands and hair follicles, offers opportunity for careful analysis of dermatological impact of Lipedema, potentially exploitable for screening or diagnosis. Hair loss has been reported in more than half of patients with stage 3 Lipedema (Herbst et al., 2015), and is known to be associated with some primary lymphedemas (Irrthum et al., 2003). The skin's role as a mediator of water and Na+/K+ homeostasis has been implicated in peripheral vascular resistance and formation of pro-inflammatory environments (Jobin et al., 2021; Rossitto and Delles, 2022). Loss of muscular strength has also been reported in animal models in which the skin's barrier function is impaired (Wild et al., 2021). Notably, observance of dermal tissue sodium accumulation has been reported in Lipedema (Crescenzi et al., 2020) and lymphedema.

Lipedematous alopecia and lipedematous scalp are rare disorders of expanding adipose specifically in the scalp and associated with pain. Like Lipedema, they appear to be sex limited to women. While there is currently no epidemiological or biological mechanism to associate Lipedema and lipedematous scalp, neither has been systematically evaluated for its prevalence in the other condition, though case reports suggest at least occasional comorbidity between the two conditions (El Darouti et al., 2007; Safar and George, 2021).

Hypermobility of joints is frequently associated with Lipedema, along with fallen arches, and may be consistent with patient reports of arthritis, effusion, and of joint pain, especially in the knees (Fetzer and Fetzer, 2014; Harwood et al., 1996; Herbst et al., 2015; Ketterings, 1988; Lipedema Foundation, 2022a; Torre et al., 2018).

Vascular Fragility and Potential Vascular Issues

Capillary fragility is commonly associated with Lipedema as tendency to form hematomas and is expressed as a potential symptom in several diagnostic criteria (Lipedema Foundation, 2022b). Direct measurement of capillary fragility is non-trivial as most assessments require injury to the patient, complicating human welfare in research considerations. Vacuum based angiosterrometry has been employed in a small number of studies supporting the hypothesis that Lipedema capillaries are more fragile than capillaries of obese individuals (Szolnoky et al., 2017, 2008). An observation that Lipedema affected adipose depots are 'bloodier' than non-affected adipose has also been suggested (Ishaq et al., 2021).

Telangiectasia have been reported in Lipedema patients, but is not presently incorporated into any commonly cited diagnostic criteria (Buck and Herbst, 2016; Herbst et al., 2015; Kruppa and Ghods, 2022; Pavlov-Dolijanovic et al., 2014; Stallworth, 1974).

Skin hypothermia is frequently invoked, though difficult to substantiate in research studies. Recent use of infrared thermography in Lipedema may present opportunities to more carefully document this phenomenon (Sanchez-Jimenez et al., 2023). If present, this phenotype is consistent with vascular and immunological involvement detailed elsewhere (Bilancini et al., 1990; Buck and Herbst, 2016; Crescenzi et al., 2020; Kinmonth, 1982; Meier-Vollrath and Schmeller, 2004).

Circumstantial evidence for a coagulation defect may also be suggested by the implication of Platelet Factor 4 in a cohort of Lipedema and lymphatic conditions (Ma et al., 2020), but examination of people with Lipedema for evidence of such a thrombotic deficiency were inconclusive (Sucker et al., 2021).

Systemic vascular manifestations have been reported. Cerebral blood flow has been reported to be increased in people with Lipedema relative to age and sex matched controls (Petersen et al., 2020). A series of papers have provided evidence for aortic stiffening and dilation (Nemes et al., 2019, 2018, 2018; Nemes and Kormányos, 2022; Szolnoky et al., 2012) that may be phenocopied in Williams syndrome (Waxler et al., 2017). These papers suggest systemic Lipedema specific changes that, if confirmed by other groups, might be leveraged for consideration as a biomarker.

Lipedema Diagnosis – other features

Apart from canonical features, some features described by people with Lipedema have mixed adoption in published clinical criteria. Limb fatigue or a profound sensation of heaviness to the legs is frequently reported as associated with Lipedema, and has been shown to contribute to severity of depression (Dudek et al., 2021). Depression itself, along with anxiety and similar mental health disturbances, are addressed in all guidances, though the degree to which it is related mechanistically to Lipedema, is secondary to Lipedema, or is due to comorbidity has been debated. Attempts to localize onset of mental health concerns are difficult to execute as the possibility of several biases must be controlled. The degree to which determinants of hrQOL are mediated severity of depression has been modelled, and suggests interplay between pain, mobility, and sensations of leg heaviness and their interaction with depression are correlated to hrQOL (Dudek et al., 2021). Anxiety and challenges to emotional regulation have been reported as reduced performance on Difficulties in Emotion Regulation Scale (DERS) along with Anxiety was assessed by the Hamilton Anxiety Scale (HAM-A) (Al-Wardat et al., 2022).

Subjective complaints of attention, memory or fatigue (sometime called 'brain fog') are common to inflammatory conditions such as mast cell activation syndrome, fibromyalgia, or lupus (Theoharides, 2013). Though no specific study has been conducted on the prevalence of such complaints in Lipedema, the concept of brain fog is frequently invoked by people with Lipedema.

Frequent citation of increased rates of suicide attempts in Lipedema are thus far limited to unpublished data presented as a conference talk (Stutz, 2015) and should be cited with caution as a research finding. The alarming nature of the topic deserves careful evaluation in an experimental setting as it represents a significant claim on the individual and holds public health implications associable to a Lipedema diagnosis.

Several musculoskeletal issues have been associated with Lipedema. This has been variously reported to include genu valgum ("knock knees"), flat feet, gait disturbances, and arthritis (I. Forner-Cordero et al., 2021; Herbst et al., 2015; Wounds UK, 2017). Sacroiliac joint dysfunction has been suggested in a pooled

lymphedema and Lipedema population (Turhal et al., 2023). Deficiencies in muscle strength have been variously reported. People with Lipedema have shown specific loss of quadriceps strength without functional impairment in the 6 minute walk test compared to obesity controls (van Esch-Smeenge et al., 2017). Muscle weakness has also been observed in more than 50% of stage II-III Lipedema patients (Herbst et al., 2015). A single MRI study has suggested mild atrophy in the proximal thigh (Cellina et al., 2020). Range of motion impairments have been reported (Stutz, 2011), and presented in recent conference papers (Wright, 2022). Improvements in the understanding of the immune and metabolic status of Lipedema-affected tissue may shed light on whether any muscular deficits are primary or secondary consequences of the underlying Lipedema.

Staging and Types of Lipedema

Several efforts have been made to identify subtypes of Lipedema. These divisions can be summarized as efforts to describe Lipedema's progression or severity (stages) or diversity of presentation (types).

Lipedema is well known to present differently across different individuals (Table B1). Although Allen and Hines (Allen and Hines, 1940) provides the basis of what we consider to be Lipedema today, a subtype of Lipedema, type rusticanus Moncorps (Jagtman et al., 1984; Jagtman and Kuiper, 1987; Langendoen et al., 2009; Moncorps et al., 1940) was described contemporaneously. This variant was distinguished by cyanotic lower legs, including cinnabar spots, and hyperkeratosis, along with reduced skin elasticity (Jagtman et al., 1984), and of particular note because of an earlier childhood presentation. This "Moncorps type or rusticanus type Lipedema" was later described as being a distinct clinical condition, erythrocyanosis crurum puellarum, which is characterized by acrocyanosis with adipose proliferation in the absence of edema (Langendoen et al., 2009). The advent of biomarkers of Lipedema may offer a more precise means to describe any relationship between these presentations.

Other efforts to categorize Lipedema have included gross body shape, wherein otherwise slender women, with painful adipose accumulation in the upper leg, might be differentiated from women with prominent ankle cuffing, and both differentiated from rusticanus-type Lipedema (Bilancini et al., 1990; Schmitz, 1987). Other efforts have suggested categorization on the basis of overall lower body shape, distinguishing between a columnar leg, and a lobular (funnel-shaped) hip to ankle geometry (Fife et al., 2010; Földi and Földi, 2006; Gregl, 1987; Wounds UK, 2017).

Adipose depot specific descriptions have been used to differentiate types of Lipedema. Such "constitutional figure variations" (Strößenreuther and Baumeister, 2001, p. 42) were invoked to organize prior observations (Brunner, 1982). These efforts suggested that the morphologic diversity with which Lipedema presents might be categorized in five types, reflecting adipose location involvement. These include buttocks, pelvis and hips only (type 1)(Herbst, 2012) buttocks to knees (type 2), buttocks to ankles (type 3), arms only (type 4), lower leg only (type 5) (Meier-Vollrath and Schmeller, 2004). A separate typing system has also been suggested that differentiates upper and lower arm involvement in addition to the preceding types (Herpertz, 2001, 1995, 1993). Whether such Lipedema types correlate to specific symptoms or comorbidities has not been documented.

Such efforts to type Lipedema have some clinical use in recognition of Lipedema, and consideration of appropriate conservative treatments (e.g., compression garment fitting). A biological understanding of the basis for diversity of Lipedema's presentation is not understood. It, however, serves to strongly

reinforce notions that an understanding of individual variation, not limited to race or other genetic contributions, may influence how Lipedema appears in clinical encounters. It also points to a need in literature to consider individual variation when considering mobility or burden of illness, as patient perceptions of such measures may be influenced not only by 'severity' of the condition, but also inter-individual variations in presentation.

Efforts to understand progression or severity of Lipedema have emerged as a clinical staging system. Most contemporary efforts to stage Lipedema are based on size of palpable textures, and visually observable manifestations of these textural changes. An early two stage system (Földi and Földi, 1984) was later adapted to a three clinical stage system with a fourth stage reserved for Lipolymphedema (Strößenreuther and Baumeister, 2001). Comorbid lymphedema has, however, been documentable at any stage, and thus use of stage IV (lipolymphedema) may be uninformative (Fife et al., 2010; Wounds UK, 2017). A possibly prodromal stage characterized by lipohypertrophic changes preceding a Lipedema diagnosis is implied in this staging construct (Brenner, 2005; Cornely, 2005; Foeldi and Foeldi, 2010; Herpertz, 1997; Meier-Vollrath and Schmeller, 2004).

The ideas of progression of Lipedema, or its triggers, are poorly understood, but have been hypothesized to relate to adiposity, or as a consequence of surgery (Földi and Idiazabal, 2000). The conceptualization of Lipedema as a chronic and progressive condition is discounted by some authors as comorbid weight gain, and supported by absence of longitudinal BMI data in prior work, and select case studies (Bertsch and Erbacher, 2018). Other cases have been presented to the contrary (Sandhofer et al., 2020; Wright and Herbst, 2021a). Regression of adipose in the form of weight loss may be considered a parallel concept to progression. Caloric restriction through dietary or bariatric surgical interventions generally support the claim that subsequent mass reduction is preferential to truncal adipose, and less effective at promoting loss of mass in Lipedema-affected tissues (Bast et al., 2016; Cornely et al., 2022; Pouwels et al., 2019; Wright and Herbst, 2021b). Though these studies are generally small and requiring of follow up, difficulty in achieving weight loss in Lipedema affected tissues is widely reported in the patient community (Falck et al., 2022; Fetzer and Fetzer, 2014; Lipedema Foundation, 2022a; Melander et al., 2021).

It should also be noted that many women may never progress from early stages at all. Individual risk of progression by any definition or on any timescale is not currently predictable though aggregate data suggest that decade long transitions between stages is a common presentation (Herpertz, 2004; Lipedema Foundation, 2022a).

Resolution of the issue may not be possible within the current staging system, as the concept of stage challengingly conflates textural changes, with macroscopic observations related to generalized adiposity and BMI. This confounds attempts to experimentally disentangle healthy adiposity, obesity, and Lipedema. Alternatively, Lipedema stage might be considered as limited solely to the concept of textural changes or nodularity. In this construct, the progression through Lipedema stages would be self-evident. The refutation of this construct would require identification of a case in which a woman with high stage Lipedema had never experienced a point in her life in which she had fewer, or smaller sized, nodules!

While texture-based staging may correlate with total nodule count, and anatomical sites at which nodular structures can be found (Herbst et al., 2015), it does not generally correlate to presence or severity of other symptoms and comorbidities, notably pain, mobility, and quality of life (Reich-Schupke et al., 2017). A complementary staging system based on pain has been proposed (Schmeller and Meier-

Vollrath, 2008). Some reports of correlation of texture based staging to numbness, and presence of visible veins on legs have additionally been reported (Herbst et al., 2015).

Though the three stage system was developed to describe Lipedema across the body, some authors have begun using the three stage system to describe Lipedema related changes at specific anatomical sites; thus an affected arm may be of different stage than an affected leg (Hamatschek et al., 2022; Karen L Herbst et al., 2021; Kruppa et al., 2022). A clinical staging system accommodating anatomic region and pain has recently been proposed (Jandali et al., 2022, p. 52).

The future of Lipedema staging is an open question. British guidelines suggest the development of an outcome-based scoring system that would grade patients based on severity of several symptoms and benchmark the numerical score against simple summary terms such as "mild", "moderate", and "severe" (Alcolea et al., 2018; Wounds UK, 2017). Such an approach would have the explicit goal of clinical decision support for surgical and non-surgical management of Lipedema and would be analogous to other clinical rating scales (e.g., Prostate Cancer, or non-alcoholic fatty liver disease).

The degree of utility for evaluation of clinical research studies is, however, questionable. To date, no clinical or patient reported outcome measures have been formally validated in a Lipedemaf population, with input from that population. Thus, while such a rating scale may have substantial in-clinic value, it may remain more efficient to conduct clinical research using established measures for each domain of interest, validating these individually.

A complementary biomarker-based approach would replace morphological assessment of stage with measures of biological processes known to be disturbed in Lipedema. Such biomarker strategies need not be limited to a diagnostic or monitoring context of use but should be individually explored to support assessments of susceptibility, risk of progression, safety in clinical studies, pharmacodynamic, and individualized likelihood of therapeutic benefit. Such contextualization of biomarkers is increasingly required for regulatory acceptance of future therapeutics (FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group, 2016).

Until then, emphasis should be placed on collecting substantial knowledge of demographics and comorbidities.

Frequent Comorbidities

A list of commonly cited comorbidities derived from published accounts is presented in Table B1. Where presented, frequencies of individual comorbidities differ significantly between published studies, though some conditions such as comorbid metabolic syndrome or diabetes are represented at lower rates than would be expected. A protective effect of Lipedema has been postulated, but requires additional study to confirm (Torre et al., 2018).

Lipedema, has been hypothesized to be a disorder of loose connective tissue (Herbst, 2020). Thus, several conditions associated with tissue and joint laxity are frequently reported as comorbid to Lipedema. Few systematic approaches to the prevalence of comorbid conditions have been published. A recent study of electronic medical records, suggests that the presence of Lipedema and lymphatic conditions likely dispose individuals to a characteristic spectrum of potential comorbid conditions liked through as yet unknown lymphatic-related mechanism (Rockson et al., 2022).

Additional clusters of comorbidities, including immune mediated conditions such as allergies and sensitivities consistent with mast cell activation syndrome, as well as more standard rheumatic complaints, are especially prominent in both the published literature and by patient report.

Notably, Lipedema, in its early stages, may be associated with reduced incidence of metabolic syndrome, and diabetes (Ghods et al., 2020; Schmitz, 1980; Torre et al., 2018), despite increased adiposity. The reproducibility of the observation warrants significant attention to an understanding of the metabolic status of Lipedema affected adipose.

Epidemiology of Lipedema

Lipedema is often described as rarely diagnosed, but not rare. Available epidemiological data is scarce, and of limited quality. Prevalence of Lipedema has been estimated by its prevalence in lymphedema clinics, where it has variably been estimated as 5-17% of women treated for lymphedema (Dean et al., 2020; Forner-Cordero et al., 2012; Herpertz, 1997; Marshall and Schwahn-Schreiber, 2011; Meier-Vollrath et al., 2005). Pediatric referrals for lymphedema have been reported as misdiagnosed Lipedema cases in 6.5% of a single US childrens' hospital (Schook et al., 2011). Extrapolation of similar numbers to an overall prevalence, has resulted in the suggestion that Lipedema may affect 1.1:10 (11%) of women unpublished data (Foeldi and Foeldi, 2002). More recent authors have questioned this (Child et al., 2010; Fife et al., 2010; Ghods, 2021), and ventured a restatement of the 11% number as approximately .5-2:1000 (.05-0.24%) of German women (unpublished data in (Herpertz, 2021, 2004)). A second estimate based on 67 cases seen in 15 years in a British dermatology department allowed a minimum estimate of 1:72,000, reported as likely to be a significant underestimate (unpublished data in (Child et al., 2010)).

Some efforts have been made to consider the prevalence of Lipedema via community screening. In the first case 4.8-9.7% women were estimated to have moderate to pronounced Lipedema, based on a screening of 62 women in German professional practices (Marshall and Schwahn-Schreiber, 2011). Preliminary data suggesting 5% prevalence of Lipedema cases in a screen of 813 women in a German general practice has been reported (Rapprich et al., 2015). A survey-based Lipedema screening tool (Amato et al., 2020) was used to screen 253 responding women in a Brazilian population. Using an assumption of 0.9 specificity, the authors reported a $12.3 \pm 4\%$ predicted prevalence in 18-69 year old Brazilian women (Amato et al., 2022).

With the exception of one study (Amato et al., 2022), prior Lipedema prevalence estimates do not report demographics of the study participants. Thus, it must be assumed that current population estimates do not adequately consider issues such as age, race, or other demographic factors that would be required to formally estimate population prevalence of Lipedema. In the absence of minimally necessary data such as age, Lipedema has, nevertheless, been described in one prominent European epidemiology database, with the declarative statement that Lipedema is "Not rare in Europe." (Orphanet, 2022). This decision was reached following "discussion with several experts on the subject" (personal communication, GSE). Until better diagnosis and epidemiological data become available, the range of reported prevalence data would suggest that a statement about the frequency or rarity of Lipedema data is not possible.

Well-designed prevalence estimates, once available, will also allow development of cost of care and similar health economics estimates that currently represent a gap in public health understanding. Such estimates would ideally include direct health care costs in addition to indirect costs attributable to patient out of pocket expenses and workforce impact. In addition to morbidity estimation, mortality estimates for a Lipedema population are currently limited to speculation. Rigorous estimations of epidemiological data in both treated and untreated populations are necessary to consider Lipedema as a serious public health concern.

Future epidemiology data are likely to come less from community screening or single center approaches than from risk assessments in large public health databases. Predictive markers of risk as might be developed from imaging or genetics based approaches may be useful in such queries as demonstrated recently in GWAS replication studies where 93 diagnosed Lipedema patients were identified within the Cardiovascular Genomics England Clinical Interpretation Partnership program of the UK 100,000 genomes project (Grigoriadis et al., 2022; Klimentidis et al., 2022).

Racial Diversity in Lipedema Research

Race is inconsistently reported in Lipedema literature. Studies that do report racial background lead to the conclusion that available literature is dominated by Caucasian ancestries. Despite this, considerable evidence has accumulated to suggest that genetic background may affect adipose metabolism and depot utilization (Sun et al., 2021), and that women of specific ancestries may differentially metabolize and store energy in a manner that could pose a challenge to recognizing Lipedema based on current clinical diagnostic criteria.

The prevailing theory in Western clinical communities has historically been that the condition is 'practically absent among women of Asian origin' (Damstra et al., 2014). Publication of a recent Mandarin language review (Long, 2021), and submission of Pakistani and Indian proposals to the Lipedema Foundation investigator initiated research funding program (GSE, unpublished) are consistent with an increased interest in Lipedema in these regions. Specific case studies from Japan (Koyama et al., 2017), Korea (Shin et al., 2011), Pakistan (Suga et al., 2009), and Malaysia (Ruh and Hasan, 2017) suggest that Lipedema may either truly be rare, or simply underrecognized, in these communities. Understanding the prevalence of Lipedema in East Asian populations may be complicated by reports that women of Asian ancestry may possess higher truncal adipose and higher Waist to Hip ratios than Caucasian populations (Karastergiou et al., 2012; Lim et al., 2011; Morimoto et al., 2012). As the clinical diagnosis of Lipedema is based significantly on a clinical observation of disproportionate accumulation of mass in the lower extremities, such baseline differences may pose a challenge to recognizing Lipedema in East Asian populations. Conversely, a higher ratio of small to large adipocytes in subcutaneous adipose, and low prevalence of the CAV1 rs4236601 variant in South Asian populations has been proposed to modulate tissue swelling relative to Caucasian backgrounds via influence on tissue fibrosis (Kruglikov et al., 2020). Influence of diet and basal differences in circulating sex steroids have also been suggested as factors that might reduce prevalence of Lipedema in Asian population (Ehrlich et al., 2017).

Women of African descent with Lipedema are included in some research reports, albeit at low levels in papers reviewed here (collectively n=13 patients) (Beltran and Herbst, 2017; Crescenzi et al., 2019; Ma et al., 2020; Rasmussen et al., 2022; Rockson et al., 2022; Wold et al., 1951). Only a single case report of an African American woman with Lipedema presents a focused examination of Lipedema in this context (Greer, 1974). As in Asian populations, depot utilization and triglyceride synthesis may differ between women of Caucasian and African backgrounds (White et al., 2018).

Similarly, future diagnostics strategies should be designed and tested with consideration for variation in skin tone if the platform is reliant on dermal reflectivity or absorbencies (e.g., photoplethysmography).

Available studies from diverse populations (e.g., (Amato et al., 2021; Atan and Bahar-Özdemir, 2021)) do not clearly demonstrate notably divergent presentations of Lipedema. However, the absence of a thorough examination of Lipedema in the context of race represents a significant gap in the research. Such studies should not only examine standard morphometry, and prevalence of symptoms, but should also acknowledge that health care experiences and health-related quality of life may be significantly influenced directly or indirectly by demographic parameters including, but not limited to race.

Health related Quality of Life (hrQOL) and Patient Reported Outcome Measures

The effects of Lipedema on patient health and quality of life have routinely been expressed in relevant literature as patient histories interpreted by health care professionals. In recent years attempts to both quantify subjective expressions and reduce interpreter bias have resulted in efforts to develop Lipedema specific surveys and introduce standard Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROM) and health related Quality of Life (hrQOL) measures. The use of this data supports both epidemiological approaches to understanding the burden of disease and provides a basis for establishing quantified patient report data as outcome measures in clinical studies. Discussion of specific patient reported outcomes measures related to common features of Lipedema is distributed throughout this document, notably in the sections of this text related to mental health, fatigue, and pain.

The hrQOL of women with Lipedema is consistently reported to be lower than reference populations in all cultures and languages studied. Qualitative research on hrQOL is limited. Narrative interview approaches were used in Swedish populations to assess the impact of late-stage Lipedema on daily lives. This approach codifies the deliberate attention required to move an 'unreliable' body and the interplay between Lipedema related exhaustion and lack of support in healthcare and social encounters (Melander et al., 2021). Such concerns echoed similar focus group based approaches, that bring detail to specific mobility and emotional challenges and experiences with available therapeutic options (Fetzer, 2020).

Studies with a specific quantitative approach to hrQOL are typically survey based, relying on patients to self-administer the instrument outside of a clinical setting. Reporting of the administration environment is not provided in all studies, though may be suspected from other fields to have an influence on study demographics (Weldring and Smith, 2013).

Like other symptoms, the effect of Lipedema on hrQOL is diverse, and has been reported to vary by age at onset, stage, and duration of symptoms as a function of pain and mobility (Clarke et al., 2022; Falck et al., 2022; Hamatschek et al., 2022). Concomitant increases in the number and severity of comorbidities is likely to influence measurements of hrQOL (Falck et al., 2022; Ghods et al., 2020; Romeijn et al., 2018), and should be considered in study design. Detriments to emotional well-being may also be negatively affected by socio-economic status (Falck et al., 2022). In one study, depression severity mediated the relationship between symptom severity quality of life, suggesting a correlation between Lipedema specific symptoms and depression (Dudek et al., 2021). Existing patient cohorts and registries such as those studies cited here and including large patient groups (e.g., Lipedema Foundation Registry, Lipoedema UK, Lipoedema Australia) represent convenient populations against which to continue to pilot-test novel hypotheses regarding patient reported outcomes.

As in other PROMs, there is a lack of formal validation for hrQOL measures in Lipedema populations, though some work is progressing in this area. Two studies have reported validation of Patient Benefit Index (PBI) and a Turkish version of the PBI-Lymphedema (PBI-L), in a mixed Lipedema and lymphedema cohort (Blome et al., 2014; Duygu et al., 2020; Duygu Yildiz et al., 2022). Retrospective and prospective interventional studies have also variously used PROMs evaluated hrQOL, and provide guidance for understanding responsiveness of individual instruments in future validation studies (Amato et al., 2020; Atan and Bahar-Özdemir, 2021; Di Renzo et al., 2021; Donahue et al., 2022; Herbst et al., 2017; Karen L. Herbst et al., 2021; Ibarra et al., 2018; Kruppa et al., 2022; Paling and Macintyre, 2020; Schneider, 2020).

The degree to which Lipedema compares to other chronic conditions with respect to important measurement domains has received appreciable attention. Cross instrument construct validity has been tested in lymphedema and Lipedema and suggests that both generic (SF-36) and disease specific (FLQA-LS) hrQOL instruments may elicit differential responses from lymphedema and Lipedema populations principally based on pain and physical function. Subsequent factor analysis revealed differences in loading between the two conditions, suggesting that physical functioning had less contribution to Lipedema mental health scores than to lymphedema (Angst et al., 2020b). In a study comparing SF-36 across six chronic pain conditions, the same team demonstrated correlation between pain and depression in Lipedema similar to five of six other chronic pain conditions (Angst et al., 2020a).

Future Lipedema interventional studies are likely to incorporate Lipedema into larger studies such as obesity or chronic pain trials. There remains, therefore, a substantial need for a Lipedema specific validation effort with respect to established PROMs. It is, however, unclear to what degree the Lipedema field would benefit from the establishment of novel disease-specific hrQOL instruments that would sacrifice comparability to other disease conditions or reference populations. In either case, the utility of PROMs in clinical research will be dependent on their ability to provide informative data relative to the trial. As such, there is a priority on PROMs for which a Lipedema-specific and well-defined minimally clinically important difference (MCID) can be used as a target in studies. To do this may be non-trivial and require large studies that can be representative of the diversity of ages, stage, comorbidities, and present in Lipedema populations. As the prevalence of Lipedema in men is especially rare, special attention must be paid to gender-matching of Lipedema and control populations in any study analyzing uninterpreted data from patients, the definition of a patient reported outcome

measurement. Likewise, the nature of direct collection of patient report opens opportunity for introduction of avoidable biases (including recall, ascertainment, and social acceptability biases) that should be appropriately controlled for in study design.

Statement on Medical Reimbursement

Women with Lipedema often face significant barriers to medical coverage for effective treatments. The motivations for this may be explicitly fiscal incentives but may also be more influenced by well-documented biases that present barriers to care on the basis of parameters such as gender or weight. Despite gaps in research knowledge, safe and effective treatments are available. As made clear in this document, Lipedema is a distinct medical condition. It is accompanied by adverse outcomes, as established by measures of health-related Quality of Life. The same measures have shown improvement following contemporary surgical and physiotherapeutic interventions. No statement made in this document distracts from the authors' professional opinion that sufficient data is available to justify reimbursement for Lipedema diagnosis and standard therapeutic interventions.

Conclusions

This review serves as look back on the history of Lipedema, spanning many decades and languages to arrive at a relatively simple conclusion. Lipedema represents a long-known condition, for which many initial insights remain to be challenged with modern research tools. This document covers data related to pathogenesis and natural history. It does not cover current understanding of clinical diagnosis and therapeutic outcomes. A companion "Lipedema Research Roadmap" document provides forward looking recommendations oriented towards maximizing the impact of Lipedema research effort on behalf of patients. These are intended as living documents, capable of being edited semi-regularly. As such, they are curated on the Lipedema Foundation website, under the concept that future versions can be collectively influenced and written by the larger research community.

Appendices

Appendix A: Figures

Figure A1. Histology Illustration Outlining Tissue Architecture.



22. Muscular layer

Caption: Schematic rendering of adipose and fascial anatomy in the thigh. Adapted from Jobst poster (Asmussen, 2018). Created with Biorender.com

Appendix B: Tables

Table B1. Lipedema Signs and Symptoms, Comorbidities, and Demographics in Primary Data Papers

| Table B1. Lipedema signs and symptoms, comorbidities, and demographics reported in primary dat | а |
|--|---|
| papers. | |

| | Number of Studies Reporting | Range of Values Reported | Citations |
|------------------------------------|--------------------------------|---|-------------|
| Demographic Parameters Reported | | | |
| n | 17 | 10-522 | a-q |
| Female n(%) | 15 | 10-209 (98-100%) | a,c-l,n-q |
| Race/Ethnicity | | | |
| White n(%) | 6 | 9-141 (51-100%) | a,d,h-i,l,n |
| Black n(%) | 4 | 1-6 (1-10%) | d,h,l,n |
| Hispanic n(%) | 2 | 5 (2-9%) | d,h,n |
| Asian n(%) | 2 | 1 (0.7-2%) | d,h |
| Other/Unknown n(%) | 1 | (37%) | d |
| | | *d only study to utilize "other" | |
| Age mean or median yrs (range) | 16 | 35.6-57 (15-82) | a-l,n-q |
| | | *f,j, k reported median rather than mean | |
| BMI mean or median (range) | 15 | 27.5-39 (18.7-58.8) | a-i,k-p |
| | | *c reported median; g reported median and IQR | |
| BMI Classification | | | |
| Normal (18-24.9) n(%) | 6 | 4-32 (4-23.2%) | a-b,f-g,o-p |
| Overweight (25-29.9) n(%) | 6 | 7-48 (11-42%) | a-b,f-g,o-p |
| Obese Class 1 (30-34.9) n(%) | 6 | 18-52 (8-76.1%) | a-b,f-g,o-p |
| | | *g and o indicated obesity class 1 or more | |
| Obese Class 2 (35-39.9) n(%) | 4 | 11-42 (8-27%) | a-b,f,p |

| | Number of Studies Reporting | Range of Values Reported | Citations |
|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|-----------------|
| Obese Class 3 (>40) n(%) | 3 | 33 (17.2-50%) | a-b,p |
| WHR Mean (range) | 3 | 0.71-0.76 (0.40- 0.93) | a,e-f |
| | | *e did not list mean but did indicate WHR < 0.85 for all participants | |
| WHtR Mean (range) | 1 | 0.6 ± 0.1 (0.32-0.88) | е |
| Stage | | | |
| Stage 0 n(%) | 1 | (42.4%) | b |
| Stage 1 n(%) | 10 | 4-52 (4.1-40%) | b-c,f-i,k-l,n-o |
| | | (11.8-45.5%) (arms) | |
| | | *a reported legs and arms; b reported overall and arms | |
| Stage 2 n(%) | 10 | 3-79 (25.3-64.7%) | a-b,f-i,k-l,n-o |
| | | (36-55.7%) (arms) | |
| | | *a reported legs and arms; b reported overall and arms | |
| Stage 3 n(%) | 10 | 0-55 (0.0-37.2%) (9.9-76.5%) (arms) | a-b,f-i,k-l,n-o |
| | | *a reported legs and arms; b reported overall and arms | |
| Stage 4 or Lipolymphedema n(%) | 7 | 5-16 (1.4-30%) | e-f,h,k-l,n-o |
| Туре | | | |
| Type I n(%) | 5 | 0-2 (0.0-6.7%) | f-g,i,k-l |
| Type II n(%) | 5 | 1-19 (10-33.3%) | f-g,i,k-l |
| Type III n(%) | 5 | 9-98 (49-90%) | f-g,i,k-l |
| Type IV n(%) | 4 | 6-16 (10.8-60%) | f-g,k-l |
| Type V n(%) | 3 | 1-3 (1.2-2.2%) | f-g,k |
| Disease Duration yrs (range) | 2 | 23.4-29.2 (1-62) | a,f |
| Age of Onset yrs (range) | 8 | 15.9-26.7 (10-54) | a-b,e,g,j-l,o |
| | | *k reported median | |

| | Number of Studies Reporting | Range of Values Reported | Citations |
|----------------------------------|--------------------------------|---|-----------------|
| Onset trigger | | | |
| Puberty n(%) | 5 | 3-79 (15.7-67.3%) | b-c,e-f,k |
| Pregnancy n(%) | 5 | 12-22 (9.5-63.1%) | b-c,e-f,k |
| Menopause n(%) | 5 | 2-8 (1.9-21%) | b-c,e-f,k |
| Contraceptives n(%) | 3 | 1-4 (1.2-3.8%) | c,f,k |
| Not Indicated n(%) | 1 | 28 (20.3%) | f |
| Other n(%) | 2 | 6-18 (5.7-21.7%) | c,k |
| Canonical Symptoms | | | |
| Symmetrical involvement n(%) | 5 | 15-200 (100%) | a,f,i,k,q |
| Upper arm involvement n(%) | 4 | 15-65 (15.2-100%) | c,f,h-i |
| Spared Feet n(%) | 3 | 74 -200 (89.2-100%) | a,f,k |
| Fat pads around the knees n(%) | 3 | 22 (53.3-85%) | h-i,p |
| Negative Stemmer's Sign n(%) | 5 | 15-119 (80.7-100%) | f,i,k,n,q |
| Pain and/or tender to touch n(%) | 10 | 27-127 (62-100%) | a-c,f-i,k,p-q |
| | | *b,c,j reported utilizing VAS scales | |
| Bruising n(%) | 11 | 31-139 (28.1-93.3%) | a-c,f-i,k,n,p-q |
| | | *b,c reported utilizing VAS scales | |
| Swelling or edema n(%) | 7 | 14-117 (14.5-79%) | a-b,f,h-i,k,n |
| | | *b reported utilizing VAS scale | |
| Heaviness n(%) | 2 | 31 (69%) | b,g |
| | | *b reported utilizing VAS scale | |
| Fatigue n(%) | 3 | 7 (15-66.7%) | g,i,n |
| Hypermobility n(%) | 4 | 33 (17.8-58%) | a,h-i,n |
| Fibrosis n(%) | 4 | 8-86 (6.5-58%) | f,h,k,n |
| Cold skin n(%) | 5 | 33-59 (41.3-94%) | b,f,i,k,q |
| | | *b reported utilizing VAS scale | |
| Pes plantus or flat feet n(%) | 3 | 21-40 (15.2-96%) | a,f,q |
| Spider veins n(%) | 4 | 15-124 (23.9-89.9%) | a,k,m,p |

| | Number of Studies Reporting | Range of Values Reported | Citations |
|---|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------|
| Altered gait n(%) | 2 | (60-81%) | h-i |
| Family History n(%) | 5 | 10-116 (14.9-89.2%) | |
| Comorbidities | | | |
| Obesity n(%) | 3 | 74-186 (37.6-79.6%) | c-d,m |
| T1D n(%) | 2 | 3 (0.0-1.4%) | c,j |
| T2D n(%) | 7 | 2-6 (0.7-6.5%) | b-d,j,m-o |
| Hypertension n(%) | 6 | 17-28 (5.5-31%) | c-d,j,m-o |
| High Cholesterol/ Dyslipidemia/ Hypercholesterolemia/ Hyperlipidemia n(%) | 5 | 4-19 (1-38%) | c,d,j,m,o |
| Allergies n(%) | 2 | 72 (34.4-36.8%) | c,j |
| Hypothyroidism n(%) | 4 | 23-75 (24.7-35.9%) | c-d,j,n |
| PCOS n(%) | 3 | 4 -12 (2.8-5.7%) | c-d,j |
| Migraine n(%) | 4 | 15-47 (7-22.6%) | c-d,j,n |
| Hypertonia n(%) | 1 | (10.2%) | b |
| Skin Problems/ Disorders n(%) | 2 | (19.2-25.5%) | b-c |
| Joint Pain n(%) | 2 | (31.3-57%) | b,o |
| Asthma n(%) | 3 | 17-27 (12.9-19.2%) | c-d,j |
| GI Disorders n(%) | 2 | 27 (10.4-12.9%) | c,j |
| GERD n(%) | 1 | 22 (23.7%) | d |
| Rheumatism n(%) | 3 | (8.5-38%) | c,n-o |
| Osteoarthritis n(%) | 2 | 23-37 (24.7-58.7%) | d,f |
| Fibromyalgia n(%) | 3 | 6 (6.5-44%) | d,n,q |
| Anemia n(%) | 1 | 8 (8.6%) | d |
| Venous problems n(%) | 1 | 25 (13.2%) | а |
| Chronic Venous Insufficiency (CVI) n(%) | 2 | 14-43 (16.1-31.2%) | d,f |
| Cellulitis n(%) | 2 | 7-24 (7.5-68%) | d,q |
| Venous telangiectasia | 1 | 20 (52.6%) | р |
| Lymphedema n(%) | 2 | 5-25 (13.2-26.3%) | a,e |
| Sleep Disorders/ Insomnia n(%) | 3 | 7-45 (7.5-25.5%) | c-d,j |
| Depressive Disorders n(%) | 4 | 19-48 (10.1-25.5%) | c-d,j,m |

| | Number of Studies Reporting | Range of Values Reported | Citations |
|-----------------------------------|--------------------------------|-----------------------------|-----------|
| Generalized Anxiety Disorder n(%) | 1 | 14 (15.1%) | d |

Citations: a) (Grigoriadis et al., 2022) b) (Hamatschek et al., 2022) c) (Ghods et al., 2020; Kruppa et al., 2022) d) (Rockson et al., 2022) e) (Ünlü et al., 2022) f) (I. Forner-Cordero et al., 2021) g) (Buso et al., 2021) h) (Karen L. Herbst et al., 2021) i) (Crescenzi et al., 2020) j) (Bauer et al., 2019) k) (Forner-Cordero et al., 2018) l) (Crescenzi et al., 2018) m) (Sandhofer et al., 2017) n) (Beltran and Herbst, 2017) o) (Herbst et al., 2015) p) (Child et al., 2010) q) (Bilancini et al., 1990)

Table B2. Histology Characterization in Lipedema Samples

| Citation | Anatomic location | Sample Depth | Lipedema Stage | Findings |
|---|--|--|-------------------|--|
| (Rank and Wong, 1966) ‡ | Nr | Nr | Nr | Thickening of adipose tissue, fibrosis |
| (Greer, 1974) ‡ | Right thigh | Nr | Nr | No dilation of lymphatics Epidermis, dermis, and fat were normal |
| (Stallworth, 1974) ‡ | Nr | Nr | Nr | Unremarkable by Hematoxylin & Eosin stain |
| (Rudkin and Miller, 1994) | Nr | Nr | Low BMI | Absence of fibrosis and dermal thickening relative to lymphedema |
| (Strößenreuther and Baumeister, 2001) ‡ | Nr | Nr | * | Increased vascularity CD68+ macrophage, fibroblast, and mast cell infiltration Slightly hypertrophic and necrotic adipose Increased fibrosis |
| (Stutz and Krahl, 2009) | Proximal lower leg and distal thigh | IHC of lipoaspirate, presumed interfascial SAT layer | 11-111 | Low levels of lymphatic vessels in lipoaspirate |
| (Suga et al., 2009) ‡ | Medial patellar fat pad and unaffected inguinal subcutaneous | Nr | * | Edematous and necrotic adipose Macrophage infiltration Hypertrophic adipocytes No vascular changes Proliferating CD34+ adipose stem/progenitor Cells |
| (Koyama et al., 2017) ‡ | Right hip | Skin punch biopsy | / * | Large adipocyte size Adipocyte lysis Plasma cell or lymphocyte infiltration |
| (Al-Ghadban et al., 2019) | anterolateral thigh | 5 mm punch biopsy | 1-111 | Increase in macrophage count No mast cell differences Increased dermal blood vessels in non-obese Lipedema Lymphatic dilation but not vessel number difference in obese Lipedema Increased angiogenesis in skin |
| (Allen et al., 2020) | Thigh and abdomen | 5 mm punch biopsy | 1-111 | Altered vascular structure inversely correlated with BMI |

| Table B2. Histol | ogy characterization | on in Lipedema | samples. |
|-------------------------|----------------------|----------------|----------|
|-------------------------|----------------------|----------------|----------|

| Citation | Anatomic location | Sample Depth | Lipedema Stage | Findings |
|-------------------------------|---|---|-------------------|--|
| | | | | Immune infiltration and enlarged perivascular spaces |
| (Felmerer et al., 2020a) | Nr⊤ | NrT | 1-111 | Adipocyte hypertrophy Increase in CD45+/Cd68+ macrophages |
| (Felmerer et al., 2020b) | Nr† | Nr† | 1-111 | Increase in M2 polarized macrophages No structural changes to vasculature |
| (Ishaq et al., 2021) | Nr | Nr | 11-111 | Increased numbers of CD29+/CD34+ ADSCs in nodules Increased adipogenic differentiation and proliferation in ADSCs |
| (Wolf et al., 2021) | Nr† | Nr† | 1-111 | Adipocyte hypertrophy |
| (Chakraborty et al., 2022) | Abdomen and anterolateral thigh | 5 mm punch biopsy | 1-111 | Reduced dermal neuron density in abdomen, not in thighs Stage dependent expression pattern of neuropeptides in thigh and abdomen |
| (Strohmeier et al., 2022) | Lateral thigh | dermal biopsy | 1-11 | Increased macrophages near endothelial structures, but not other areas of tissue No fibrosis or epidermal thickness changes |
| (Von Atzigen et al., 2023) | Ventral aspect of lower extremities | At the level superficial to the Scarpa | 11-111 | Increased adipocyte size Increased number of hypertrophic adipocytes No adipose tissue fibrosis |
| | | fascia | | Increased epidermal thickness No skin fibrosis |
| | | | | Increased numbers of CD45+ hematopoietic cells and CD68+ and CD163+ macrophages |
| Studies reported by | citation, but unav | ailable for reviev | v | |
| **(Curri, 1984) | | | Nr | |
| **(Curri and Merlen, 1986) | | | | |

Table B2. Histology characterization in Lipedema samples.

Nr: not reported * stage estimated from figures in original paper † SAT residing between the deep and superficial fascial layers, collected by scalpel from thighs, personal communication Epa Gousopoulos) ‡ Data expressed as single subject observation, or without reference to number of subjects studied

| Table B2. Histology | characterization in | Lipedema samples. |
|---------------------|---------------------|-------------------|
|---------------------|---------------------|-------------------|

| atomic Sample Lipedema | Anatomic |
|----------------------------|----------|
| cation Depth Stage Finding | location |

** If your manuscript is referenced here, please consider using "personal communication" to supplement any information that may not have been reported in the published version. If we inadvertently omitted any items that were published, we kindly request that you bring those to our attention and accept our apologies for the oversight.

| Citation | Anatomic location of observation or administration of tracer, duration of observation | Lymphatic Structural Change Reported | Lymphatic Functional Change Reported | Method and sample |
|---|---|---|---|---|
| Functional Change in Structural Change | presence of | | | |
| (Stöberl et al., 1986) | Subepidermal injection of contrast at malleolar adipose depot | +++ Cavitation of prelymphatic spaces | +++ No evidence of outflow to lymphatic collectors | Indirect lymphangiography N=11 "severe" Lipedema |
| (Ketterings, 1988) | Phlebography - Nr Radiolabeled colloid, injected intracutaneously 6 hr observation | +++ Incompetent venous valve system, post thrombotic changes | +++ Increased lymph transport (65%) Reduction in lymphatic vessels, "foamy" lymph nodes | Photoplethysmography lymphoscintigraphy Lymphangiography N=45 Lipedema |
| (Bilancini et al., 1995) | Radiolabeled colloid. Depth not reported 1 hr observation | +++ Asymmetric appearance of lymph node signal + collateral pathways | ++ Slower lymphatic flow | Lymphoscintigraphy N=12 Lipedema |
| (Lohrmann et al., 2009) | Intracutaneous injection of gadolinium contrast to foot Upper and lower leg ~55 min observation | + enlarged lymphatic vessels (20-40%) ++ venous enhancement (100%) | + slowing of lymph transport | T2 weighted MRI N=5 Lipedema, N=8 lipolymphedema |
| (Cellina et al., 2020) | Upper and lower leg 5 min scan time | + Lymphatic and venous dilatation at later stages | + Vascular stasis | Non contrast MRI lymphangiography N=11 Stages I-III |

| | | Anatomic location of | | | |
|------------------------|------------------------------|--|--|--|--|
| | | observation or | Lymphatic | Lymphatic | |
| | | administration of | Structural | Functional | |
| | | tracer, duration of | Change | Change | |
| | Citation | observation | Reported | Reported | Method and sample |
| Functio | nal Change in | presence of | | | |
| Structu | ral Change | | | | |
| | (Gould et al., 2020) | Radiolabeled colloid, injected subcutaneously | ++ 34% Collateral pathways | +++ Reduction in transport correlated to severity | Lymphoscintigraphy N=19 Lipedema Stages I-IV |
| | | | | ++ 20% Dermal backflow | |
| | (Rasmussen et al., 2022) | Intradermal ICG injection at several locations 2 hr observation | + Dilatation of lymphatic vessels + tortuosity | +++ Increased lymphatic pumping rate | NIRFLI imaging N=20 stage I/II Lipedema |
| | | | | +++ no dermal backflow | |
| | (Zaleska et al., 2022) | Subcutaneous ICG or radiolabeled colloid injection to toe webbing | +++ Abnormal appearance and number of lymphatic vessels | +++ Reduced lymph flow + High skin water | ICG lymphography N=50 Lipedema, stage I-III |
| | | Up to 1 hr observation | at all sites and stages | concentration | |
| Functional Change Only | | | | | |
| | (Weissleder et al., 1995) | Radiolabeled colloid, "subepidermal" injection to "fatty | + Narrow lymphatic lumen | + 25% with longer transport times | Lymphoscintigraphy N=17 Lipedema |
| | | tissue of ankle region" 3 hr observation | +tortuous lymph collectors | | |
| | (Harwood et al., 1996) | Photoplethysmo- graphy at calf | Nr | + Minor venous dysfunction | Photoplethysmography lymphoscintigraphy |

Lymphoscintigraphy

Radiolabeled colloid

injection depth not

reported.

(20%), sub clinical

impairment (80%)

lymphatic

N=10

| | | Anatomic location of | | | |
|---------|-----------------------|------------------------|------------|-------------------------|-------------------------|
| | | observation or | Lymphatic | Lymphatic | |
| | | administration of | Structural | Functional | |
| | | tracer, duration of | Change | Change | |
| | Citation | observation | Reported | Reported | Method and sample |
| | | 3 hr observation. | | · · · | · · · · · |
| - | | | | | |
| Functio | nal Change On | lly | | | |
| | (Brauer | Radiolabeled colloid, | None | Increased lymph | Lymphoscintigraphy |
| | and | injected | | transport in | N=39 Lipedema legs |
| | Brauer, | subcutaneously to | | young patients, | |
| | 2005; | interdigital webbing | | that reduces | |
| | Brauer, | 60 min Observation | | below controls in | |
| | 2000) | time | | later ages | |
| | , | | | | |
| | (Boursier et | Radiolabeled colloid, | None | Lymphatic | Lymphoscintigraphy |
| | al., 2004) | injected intradermally | | insufficiency | N=15 Lipedema |
| | / F = | | N.L., | | to make a station where |
| | (Forner- | Radiolabeled colloid, | INF | ++ Slower | Lymphoscintigraphy |
| | | njecied | | AZO/ | N=83 Lipedema |
| | al., 2018) | subcutarieousiy | | 4770, independent of | Stages I-IV |
| | | 3hr observation | | age, stage, or BMI | |
| | | | | | |
| | (van de Pas | Subcutaneous | Nd | +++ Lymph | Lymphoscintigraphy |
| | et al. <i>,</i> 2020) | radiotracer injection | | transport deficit | N=117 Lipedema |
| | | | | in 79-87% of legs, | patients |
| | | 2 hr observation | | with no | |
| | | | | significant change | |
| | | | | 6 mo. after | |
| | | | | surgical | |
| | | | | intervention | |
| | (Buso et al., | Subcutaneous ICG | None | +++ reduced | ICG Lymphography |
| | 2021) | injection | | transport | N=45 Lipedema stages |
| | | 25 min observation | | velocity, | I-III |
| | | | | negatively | |
| | | | | correlated to BMI | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | | +++ no dermal | |
| | | | | DACKIIOW | |

| | | Anatomic location of | | | |
|---------|----------------------|------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|------------------------|
| | | observation or | Lymphatic | Lymphatic | |
| | | administration of | Structural | Functional | |
| | | tracer, duration of | Change | Change | |
| | Citation | observation | Reported | Reported | Method and sample |
| | entation | | Reported | Reported | |
| Structu | ral Change Onl | ly | | | |
| | (Stallworth | Nr | + varicosity | Nr | Phlehogram |
| | (9tanworth, 1974) | | + leakage | | Lymphangiogram |
| | 13747 | | realidge | | N=14 Linedema |
| | | | | | |
| | (Kinmonth, | | ++ Tortuous | | Lymphangiography |
| | 1982) | | lymphatic vessels | | N=1 |
| | , | | , , | | |
| | (Partsch et | | +normal lymph | Nr | N=10 Lipedema |
| | al., 1988) | | collectors | | |
| | | | +perturbed | | |
| | | | prelymphatic | | |
| | | | structures | | |
| | | | | | |
| | (Tartaglione | Intradermal | +++ 75% of | + lymphatic | Radiotracer injections |
| | et al., 2020) | Radiotracer injection | patient had | transport deficits | N=54 consecutive |
| | | | tortuous vessels | in 15% of patients | Lipedema pts injected |
| | | 1 hr observation | +++ 49% | considered | intradermally |
| | | | collateral | unremarkable | |
| | | | lymphatic vessels | | |
| | 1 - | | | | |
| | (Dean et | 2d turbo spin echo | +Dilated vessels | Nr | MRI |
| | al., 2020) | sequencing | without reflux, | | N=22 Lipedema |
| | | | contrasted to | | N=30 lipolymphedema |
| | | | lipolymphedema, | | |
| | | | where | | |
| | | | obstructions and | | |
| | | | reflux were | | |
| | | | evident | | |
| | (Amann- | Subenidermal injection | +++ no | Nd | Fluorescence |
| | Vesti et al | of fluorophore at | differences in | | microlymnhography |
| | 2001) | dorsum of foot medial | capillary | | N=12 Lipedema no |
| | , | ankle, ventral thigh | diameter or | | clinical lymphedema |
| | | | breadth of | | |
| | | 15 min observation | network | | |
| | | | | | |
| | | | +++ | | |
| | | | microaneuryisms | | |
| | | | in thigh and feet | | |

| | | Anatomic location of | | | |
|-------------------|--|---|--|--|--|
| | | observation or | Lymphatic | Lymphatic | |
| | | administration of | Structural | Functional | |
| | | tracer, duration of | Change | Change | |
| | Citation | observation | Reported | Reported | Method and sample |
| Structu | ral Change Onl | У | | | |
| | (Chachaj et al., 2023) | Radiolabeled colloid, injected simultaneously in both feet between the second and third interdigital space of the foot. | +++ 76.5% collateral lymphatic vessels | +++ no dermal backflow (5.9% lipedema patients with dermal backflow) | Lymphoscintigraphy N=51 Lipedema. Stage I-III |
| No Cha Functio | nge in Either n or Structure | | | | |
| | (Hadjis et al., 1985) | 4 sections of lower leg, scanned at 5 sec | Nr | Nr | Computed Tomography N=3 Lipedema |
| | (Tiedjen and Schulz- Ehrenburg, 1985) | "foot webbing" radiotracer injection | None, some asymmetric changes attributed to comorbidities | None | N=12 mixture of Lipedema and erythrocyanosis cruris puellarum |
| | (Vaqueiro et al., 1986) | Subcutaneous radiotracer injection (foot) | None | None | n=2 Lipedema patients |
| | (Duewell et al., 1992) | DOTA (extracellular contrast) injected through catheter at unreported site. 8 min observation of calves | Marked adipose swelling only | Nd | T1/T2 weighted MRI N=5 Lipedema |
| | (Werner and Rodiek, 1993) | Upper and lower leg | Subcutaneous thickening Absence of Lymphangiectatic formations | Nd | Non contrast T1/T2 weighted MRI N=15 Lipedema |

| | Anatomic location of | | | |
|--|--|---|--|--|
| Citation | observation or administration of tracer, duration of observation | Lymphatic Structural Change Reported | Lymphatic Functional Change Reported | Method and sample |
| No Change in Either Function or Structure | | | | |
| (Bräutigam et al., 1998) | Subcutaneous and Intramuscular/subfasci al radiotracer injection (foot) | None, some changes attributed to comorbidities | None | n=9 Lipedema patients |
| (Monnin- Delhom et al., 2002) | | Nr | Nr | Computed Tomography N=20 Lipedema (excluded patients with lymphoscintigraphic or doppler findings) |
| (van Geest et al., 2003) | Epifascial lymphoscintigraphy, injection of radiolabelled colloid to subcutaneous fat (1-2 cm deep) at 15 cm above malleolus Subcutaneous lymphoscintigraphy, Subcutaneous injection to toe webbing 2 hr observation | Nr | Subcutaneous lymphatic transport difference between Lipedema subtypes, but not controls | Lymphscintigraphy n=22 Lipedema n=6 Moncorps Lipedema |
| (Felmerer et al., 2020b) | Biopsy of thigh | +++No structural deficit to lymphatics | Nd | Histological approach N=11 Lipedema |
| (Mackie et al., 2023) | Subcutaneous ICG injection (foot) Observations made after dye had | +++No structural deficits to lymphatics (85% of participants) | +++no dermal backflow (85% of participants) | ICG Lymphography N=40 Lipedema stages I-IV |

| | Anatomic location of | | | |
|---|--|---|---|--|
| | observation or | Lymphatic | Lymphatic | |
| | administration of | Structural | Functional | |
| | tracer, duration of | Change | Change | |
| Citation | observation | Reported | Reported | Method and sample |
| | stabilized, between 30- 45 minutes | | | |
| No Change in Either Function or Structure | | | | |
| (Von Atzigen et al., 2023) | Ventral aspect of lower extremities, level superficial to Scarpa fascia | +++No structural deficit to lymphatics | Nd | Histological approach N=10 Lipedema |
| Studies Reported by C but Unavailable for Re | itation, eview | | | |
| (Tiedjen et al., 1992) | | | Stage dependent transport deficit tracer accelerates in stage 1 and decelerates in stage II,III with occurrence of lymphedema. | |
| (Infante et al., 2012) | | ** reprint requested – unlikely to be Lipedema | | |
| (Åström et al., 2001) | | , | | |
| (Monnin- Delhom et al., 2002) | | | | |

+ indicative of level of support expressed by authors

Nd: not determined/ not studied. Nr: studied but not reported. None: studied with unremarkable findings

** If your manuscript is referenced here, please consider using "personal communication" to supplement any information that may not have been reported in the published version. If we inadvertently omitted any items that were published, we kindly request that you bring those to our attention and accept our apologies for the oversight.

Acknowledgements

History of Contributions

Version 1 - Lipedema: A Current Understanding of its Pathology and Natural History. Published 2023

Contributors: Guy S Eakin¹, Stephanie Peterson¹

Contributor Affiliations

¹Lipedema Foundation, Greenwich, CT, USA

Contributor roles

Conceptualization and writing: Guy Eakin, Stephanie Peterson

Financial Disclosures:

Nothing to Disclose [GSE, SP]

Citation:

Lipedema Foundation. *Lipedema: A Current Understanding of Its Pathology and Natural History*.; 2023. <u>https://www.lipedema.org/roadmap</u>

Contact information:

roadmap@lipedema.org

References

- Alcolea, J., Alonso, Á.B., Arroyo, B.A., Domingo, P., Galindo, G.A., Gracia, G.M., Iglesias, U.C., Insua, N.E., Martín, C.E., Martínez, Á.J., Ovoa, R.M., Río-González, Á., Villarino, M.A., 2018. Documento de Consenso Lipedema: Consensus document on Lipedema. Spanish Association of Lymphedema and Lipedema (AEL).
- Al-Ghadban, S., Cromer, W., Allen, M., Ussery, C., Badowski, M., Harris, D., Herbst, K.L., 2019. Dilated Blood and Lymphatic Microvessels, Angiogenesis, Increased Macrophages, and Adipocyte Hypertrophy in Lipedema Thigh Skin and Fat Tissue. J Obes 2019, 8747461. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/8747461
- Al-Ghadban, S., Diaz, Z.T., Singer, H.J., Mert, K.B., Bunnell, B.A., 2020. Increase in Leptin and PPAR-γ Gene Expression in Lipedema Adipocytes Differentiated in vitro from Adipose-Derived Stem Cells. Cells 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells9020430
- Al-Ghadban, S., Teeler, M.L., Bunnell, B.A., 2021. Estrogen as a Contributing Factor to the Development of Lipedema, in: Physiology and Disorders of Adipose Tissue. IntechOpen.
- Allen, E., Hines, E., 1940. Lipedema of the legs: a syndrome characterized by fat legs and orthostatic edema, in: Proc Staff Meet Mayo Clin. pp. 184–187.
- Allen, M., Schwartz, M., Herbst, K.L., 2020. Interstitial Fluid in Lipedema and Control Skin. Womens Health Rep (New Rochelle) 1, 480–487. https://doi.org/10.1089/whr.2020.0086
- Al-Wardat, M., Clarke, C., Alwardat, N., Kassab, M., Salimei, C., Gualtieri, P., Marchetti, M., Best, T., Di Renzo, L., 2022. The Difficulties in Emotional Regulation among a Cohort of Females with Lipedema. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health 19, 13679. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph192013679
- Amann-Vesti, B.R., Franzeck, U.K., Bollinger, A., 2001. Microlymphatic aneurysms in patients with lipedema. Lymphology 34, 170–175.
- Amato, A.C.M., Amato, F.C.M., Amato, J.L.S., Benitti, D.A., 2022. Lipedema prevalence and risk factors in Brazil. J. vasc. bras. 21, e20210198. https://doi.org/10.1590/1677-5449.202101982
- Amato, A.C.M., Amato, F.C.M., Benitti, D.A., Amato, L.G.L., Amato, A.C.M., Amato, F.C.M., Benitti, D.A., Amato, L.G.L., 2020. Development of a questionnaire and screening model for lipedema. Jornal Vascular Brasileiro 19. https://doi.org/10.1590/1677-5449.200114
- Amato, A.C.M., Saucedo, D.Z., Santos, K. da S., Benitti, D.A., 2021. Ultrasound criteria for lipedema diagnosis. Phlebology 2683555211002340. https://doi.org/10.1177/02683555211002340
- Angst, F., Benz, T., Lehmann, S., Wagner, S., Simmen, B.R., Sandòr, P.S., Gengenbacher, M., Angst, J., 2020a. Extended overview of the longitudinal pain-depression association: A comparison of six cohorts treated for specific chronic pain conditions. J Affect Disord 273, 508–516. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.05.044
- Angst, F., Lehmann, S., Aeschlimann, A., Sandòr, P.S., Wagner, S., 2020b. Cross-sectional validity and specificity of comprehensive measurement in lymphedema and lipedema of the lower extremity: a comparison of five outcome instruments. Health Qual Life Outcomes 18, 245. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01488-9
- Apkhanova, T.V., Sergeev, V.N., Krukova, M.M., Vasilyeva, V.A., Kulchitskaya, D.B., Konchugova, T.V., Sapelkin, S.V., 2021. Influence of Ketogenic Diet and Nutraceutical Correction in the Complex Treatment of Lower Limbs Lipedema. Bulletin of Restorative Medicine 20, 26–36. https://doi.org/10.38025/2078-1962-2021-20-5-26-36
- Asmussen, P.D., 2018. The Lymph Drainage System: Simplified diagram of the most important anatomical areas. Essity/Jobst, Charlotte, NC.

- Åström, K.G.O., Abdsaleh, S., Brenning, G.C., Ahlström, K.H., 2001. MR imaging of primary, secondary, and mixed forms of lymphedema. Acta Radiol 42, 409–416. https://doi.org/10.1080/028418501127346909
- Atan, T., Bahar-Özdemir, Y., 2021. The Effects of Complete Decongestive Therapy or Intermittent Pneumatic Compression Therapy or Exercise Only in the Treatment of Severe Lipedema: A Randomized Controlled Trial. Lymphat Res Biol 19, 86–95. https://doi.org/10.1089/Irb.2020.0019
- Baluk, P., McDonald, D.M., 2022. Buttons and Zippers: Endothelial Junctions in Lymphatic Vessels. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med a041178. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a041178
- Bandodkar, A.J., Molinnus, D., Mirza, O., Guinovart, T., Windmiller, J.R., Valdés-Ramírez, G., Andrade,
 F.J., Schöning, M.J., Wang, J., 2014. Epidermal tattoo potentiometric sodium sensors with
 wireless signal transduction for continuous non-invasive sweat monitoring. Biosens Bioelectron
 54, 603–609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bios.2013.11.039
- Bano, G., Mansour, S., Brice, G., Ostergaard, P., Mortimer, P.S., Jeffery, S., Nussey, S., 2010. Pit-1 mutation and lipoedema in a family. Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes 118, 377–380. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0029-1224154
- Barbieux, R., Roman, M.M., Rivière, F., Leduc, O., Leduc, A., Bourgeois, P., Provyn, S., 2019. Scintigraphic Investigations of the Deep and Superficial Lymphatic Systems in the Evaluation of Lower Limb Oedema. Sci Rep 9, 13691. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-49554-7
- Bast, J.H., Ahmed, L., Engdahl, R., 2016. Lipedema in patients after bariatric surgery. Surg Obes Relat Dis 12, 1131–1132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soard.2016.04.013
- Bauer, A.-T., von Lukowicz, D., Lossagk, K., Aitzetmueller, M., Moog, P., Cerny, M., Erne, H., Schmauss, D., Duscher, D., Machens, H.-G., 2019. New Insights on Lipedema: The Enigmatic Disease of the Peripheral Fat. Plast Reconstr Surg 144, 1475–1484. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.00000000006280
- Baumgartner, A., Hueppe, M., Meier-Vollrath, I., Schmeller, W., 2020. Improvements in patients with lipedema 4, 8 and 12 years after liposuction. Phlebology 36, 152–159. https://doi.org/10.1177/0268355520949775
- Baumgartner, A., Hueppe, M., Schmeller, W., 2016. Long-term benefit of liposuction in patients with lipoedema: a follow-up study after an average of 4 and 8 years. Br J Dermatol 174, 1061–1067. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.14289
- Beltran, K., Herbst, K.L., 2017. Differentiating lipedema and Dercum's disease. Int J Obes (Lond) 41, 240–245. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2016.205
- Bendon, C.L., 2017. Defining lymphatic microstructure and the genetic basis of lipolymphedema. University of Melbourne.
- Bertlich, M., Jakob, M., Bertlich, I., Schift, R., Bertlich, R., 2021. Lipedema in a male patient: report of a rare case – management and review of the literature. GMS Interdiscip Plast Reconstr Surg DGPW 10, Doc11. https://doi.org/10.3205/iprs000161
- Bertsch, T., Erbacher, G., 2020. JWC International Consensus Document: Lipoedema: a paradigm shift. Journal of Wound Care 29. https://doi.org/10.12968/jowc.2020.29.Sup11b.1
- Bertsch, T., Erbacher, G., 2018. Lipödem Mythen und Fakten Teil 1. Phlebologie 47, 84–92. https://doi.org/10.12687/phleb2411-2-2018
- Bilancini, S., Lucchi, M., Tucci, S., 1990. [Lipedema: clinical and diagnostic criteria]. Angiologia 42, 133– 137.
- Bilancini, S., Lucchi, M., Tucci, S., Eleuteri, P., 1995. Functional lymphatic alterations in patients suffering from lipedema. Angiology 46, 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1177/000331979504600408
- Blome, C., Augustin, M., Heyer, K., Knöfel, J., Cornelsen, H., Purwins, S., Herberger, K., 2014. Evaluation of patient-relevant outcomes of lymphedema and lipedema treatment: development and

validation of a new benefit tool. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 47, 100–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejvs.2013.10.009

- Boursier, V., Pecking, A., Vignes, S., 2004. [Comparative analysis of lymphoscintigraphy between lipedema and lower limb lymphedema]. J Mal Vasc 29, 257–261. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0398-0499(04)96770-4
- Brauer, W., Brauer, V., 2005. Altersabhängigkeit des Lymphtransportes beim Lipödem und Lipolymphödem. Lymphologie in Forschung und Praxis 9, 6–9.
- Brauer, W.J., 2000. Altersbezogene Funktionslymphszintigraphie beim Lipödem und Lipolymphödem. LymphForsch 4, 74–77.
- Bräutigam, P., Földi, E., Schaiper, I., Krause, T., Vanscheidt, W., Moser, E., 1998. Analysis of lymphatic drainage in various forms of leg edema using two compartment lymphoscintigraphy. Lymphology 31, 43–55.
- Brenner, E., 2017. What causes pain in lipedema? Lymphologie in Forschung und Praxis 21, 40–47.
- Brenner, R., 2005. Lipedema Lipohyperplasia dolorosa. Phlebologie -Stuttgart- 34, 327–327.
- Brunner, U., 1982. [Vascular diseases in lipedema of the legs. Special symptoms, common therapeutic results, viewpoint on vascular surgery]. Schweiz Med Wochenschr 112, 1130–1137.
- Brunner, U., 1969. Das Lymphödem der unteren Extremitäten. Bern Stuttgart Wien, Hans Huber,.
- Buck, D.W. 2nd, Herbst, K.L., 2016. Lipedema: A Relatively Common Disease with Extremely Common Misconceptions. Plast Reconstr Surg Glob Open 4, e1043. https://doi.org/10.1097/GOX.00000000001043
- Burnand, K.M., Glass, D.M., Sundaraiya, S., Mortimer, P.S., Peters, A.M., 2011. Popliteal Node Visualization During Standard Pedal Lymphoscintigraphy for a Swollen Limb Indicates Impaired Lymph Drainage. American Journal of Roentgenology 197, 1443–1448. https://doi.org/10.2214/AJR.11.6631
- Buso, G., Favre, L., Maufus, M., Honorati, M., Lessert, C., Depairon, M., Raffoul, W., Tomson, D., Mazzolai, L., 2021. Indocyanine green lymphography as novel tool to assess lymphatics in patients with lipedema. Microvasc Res 104298. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mvr.2021.104298
- Buso, G., Favre, L., Vionnet, N., Gonzalez-Rodriguez, E., Hans, D., Puder, J.J., Dubath, C., Eap, C.-B., Raffoul, W., Collet, T.-H., Mazzolai, L., 2022. Body Composition Assessment by Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry: A Useful Tool for the Diagnosis of Lipedema. Obes Facts 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1159/000527138
- Cadart, O., Le Moal, C., Michelet, M., Bosc, L., Pupier, E., Monsaingeon-Henry, M., Gatta-Cherifi, B., 2021. Lipedema and Klinefelter Syndrome in Two Morbidly Obese Patients. Androgens: Clinical Research and Therapeutics 2, 134–140. https://doi.org/10.1089/andro.2021.0012
- Caggiati, A., 2001. Fascial relationships of the short saphenous vein. J Vasc Surg 34, 241–246. https://doi.org/10.1067/mva.2001.116972
- Cannataro, R., Michelini, S., Ricolfi, L., Caroleo, M.C., Gallelli, L., De Sarro, G., Onorato, A., Cione, E., 2021. Management of Lipedema with Ketogenic Diet: 22-Month Follow-Up. Life 11, 1402. https://doi.org/10.3390/life11121402
- Casanueva del Campo, M., 1950. [Allen Hines' syndrome; lipo-edema of the legs (obesity of lower extremities and orthostatic edema)]. Rev Med Chil 78, 804–806.
- Cellina, M., Gibelli, D., Soresina, M., Menozzi, A., Martinenghi, C., Panzeri, M., Oliva, G., 2020. Noncontrast MR Lymphography of lipedema of the lower extremities. Magn Reson Imaging 71, 115– 124. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mri.2020.06.010
- Cestari, M., 2023. Lipedema: Usefulness of 3D Ultrasound Diagnostics. Lymphat Res Biol. https://doi.org/10.1089/Irb.2022.0082

- Chachaj, A., Dudka, I., Jeziorek, M., Sowicz, M., Adaszyńska, A., Szuba, A., 2023. Lymphoscintigraphic alterations in lower limbs in women with lipedema in comparison to women with overweight/obesity. Front. Physiol. 14, 1099555. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2023.1099555
- Chakraborty, A., Crescenzi, R., Usman, T.A., Reyna, A.J., Garza, M.E., Al-Ghadban, S., Herbst, K.L., Donahue, P.M.C., Rutkowski, J.M., 2022. Indications of Peripheral Pain, Dermal Hypersensitivity, and Neurogenic Inflammation in Patients with Lipedema. IJMS 23, 10313. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms231810313

Chakraborty, A., Scogin, C.K., Rizwan, K., Morley, T.S., Rutkowski, J.M., 2020. Characterizing Lymphangiogenesis and Concurrent Inflammation in Adipose Tissue in Response to VEGF-D. Front Physiol 11, 363. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00363

- Chen, S.-G., Hsu, S.-D., Chen, T.-M., Wang, H.-J., 2004. Painful fat syndrome in a male patient. Br J Plast Surg 57, 282–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjps.2003.12.020
- Child, A.H., Gordon, K.D., Sharpe, P., Brice, G., Ostergaard, P., Jeffery, S., Mortimer, P.S., 2010. Lipedema: an inherited condition. Am J Med Genet A 152A, 970–976. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.33313
- Clarke, C., Kirby, J.N., Smidt, T., Best, T., 2022. Stages of lipoedema: experiences of physical and mental health and health care. Qual Life Res. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-022-03216-w
- Cornely, M., 2005. Terminologie des Lipödems. Phlebologie -Stuttgart- 5.
- Cornely, M.E., 2006. Lipedema and Lymphatic Edema, in: Liposuction. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 10–14. https://doi.org/10.1007/3-540-28043-X_3
- Cornely, M.E., Hasenberg, T., Cornely, O.A., Ure, C., Hettenhausen, C., Schmidt, J., 2022. Persistent lipedema pain in patients after bariatric surgery: a case series of 13 patients. Surg Obes Relat Dis S1550-7289(21)00618–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soard.2021.12.027
- Crescenzi, R., Donahue, P.M.C., Garza, M., Patel, N.J., Lee, C., Guerreso, K., Hall, G., Luo, Y., Chen, S., Herbst, K.L., Pridmore, M., Aday, A.W., Beckman, J.A., Donahue, M.J., 2022. Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Edema in Lipedema Revealed by Noninvasive 3T MR Lymphangiography. Magnetic Resonance Imaging jmri.28281. https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.28281
- Crescenzi, R., Donahue, P.M.C., Petersen, K.J., Garza, M., Patel, N., Lee, C., Beckman, J.A., Donahue, M.J., 2020. Upper and Lower Extremity Measurement of Tissue Sodium and Fat Content in Patients with Lipedema. Obesity (Silver Spring) 28, 907–915. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22778
- Crescenzi, R., Donahue, P.M.C., Weakley, S., Garza, M., Donahue, M.J., Herbst, K.L., 2019. Lipedema and Dercum's Disease: A New Application of Bioimpedance. Lymphat Res Biol 17, 671–679. https://doi.org/10.1089/lrb.2019.0011
- Crescenzi, R., Marton, A., Donahue, P.M.C., Mahany, H.B., Lants, S.K., Wang, P., Beckman, J.A., Donahue, M.J., Titze, J., 2018. Tissue Sodium Content is Elevated in the Skin and Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue in Women with Lipedema. Obesity (Silver Spring) 26, 310–317. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22090
- Curri, S., 1984. Linfedema, lipedema, liposclerosi: una questione nosologica. La medicina estetica, Roma 8.
- Curri, S.B., Merlen, J.F., 1986. [Microvascular disorders of adipose tissue]. J Mal Vasc 11, 303–309.
- Dadras, M., Mallinger, P.J., Corterier, C.C., Theodosiadi, S., Ghods, M., 2017. Liposuction in the Treatment of Lipedema: A Longitudinal Study. Arch Plast Surg 44, 324–331. https://doi.org/10.5999/aps.2017.44.4.324
- Damstra, R.J. (Ed.), 2013. Lipedema: A chronic condition distinguishable from lymphedema, in: Diagnostic and Therapeutical Aspects of Lymphedema. Rabe-Medical-Publ, Bonn.
- Damstra, R.J., Habbema, L., Hendrickx, A., Feenstra, C., Kemperman, P., Verhoeff-Braat, C., van der Vleuten, C., Voesten, H., Smidt, T., de Haas, M., van Everdingen, J., Halk, A., Urgert, M., 2014.

Lipedema Guidelines in the Netherlands 2014. Dutch Society for Dermatology and Venereology, Utrecht, Netherlands.

- Dean, S.M., Valenti, E., Hock, K., Leffler, J., Compston, A., Abraham, W.T., 2020. The clinical characteristics of lower extremity lymphedema in 440 patients. J Vasc Surg Venous Lymphat Disord 8, 851–859. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvsv.2019.11.014
- Di Renzo, L., Cinelli, G., Romano, L., Zomparelli, S., Lou De Santis, G., Nocerino, P., Bigioni, G., Arsini, L., Cenname, G., Pujia, A., Chiricolo, G., De Lorenzo, A., 2021. Potential Effects of a Modified Mediterranean Diet on Body Composition in Lipoedema. Nutrients 13. https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13020358
- Dietzel, R., Reisshauer, A., Jahr, S., Calafiore, D., Armbrecht, G., 2015. Body composition in lipoedema of the legs using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry: a case-control study. Br J Dermatol 173, 594– 596. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.13697
- Divoux, A., Moutel, S., Poitou, C., Lacasa, D., Veyrie, N., Aissat, A., Arock, M., Guerre-Millo, M., Clément, K., 2012. Mast cells in human adipose tissue: link with morbid obesity, inflammatory status, and diabetes. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 97, E1677-1685. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2012-1532
- Donahue, P.M.C., Crescenzi, R., Petersen, K.J., Garza, M., Patel, N., Lee, C., Chen, S.-C., Donahue, M.J., 2022. Physical Therapy in Women with Early Stage Lipedema: Potential Impact of Multimodal Manual Therapy, Compression, Exercise, and Education Interventions. Lymphat Res Biol 20, 382–390. https://doi.org/10.1089/lrb.2021.0039
- Dudek, J.E., Białaszek, W., Gabriel, M., 2021. Quality of life, its factors, and sociodemographic characteristics of Polish women with lipedema. BMC Women's Health 21, 27. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-021-01174-y
- Dudek, J.E., Białaszek, W., Ostaszewski, P., 2016. Quality of life in women with lipoedema: a contextual behavioral approach. Qual Life Res 25, 401–408. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-015-1080-x
- Dudek, J.E., Białaszek, W., Ostaszewski, P., Smidt, T., 2018. Depression and appearance-related distress in functioning with lipedema. Psychol Health Med 23, 846–853. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2018.1459750
- Duewell, S., Hagspiel, K.D., Zuber, J., von Schulthess, G.K., Bollinger, A., Fuchs, W.A., 1992. Swollen lower extremity: role of MR imaging. Radiology 184, 227–231. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiology.184.1.1609085
- Duygu, E., Bakar, Y., Keser, I., 2020. An Important Tool in Lymphedema Management: Validation of Turkish Version of the Patient Benefit Index-Lymphedema. Lymphat Res Biol 18, 49–55. https://doi.org/10.1089/lrb.2018.0036
- Duygu Yildiz, E., Bakar, Y., Keser, I., 2022. What do lymphedema patients expect from a treatment and what do they achieve? A descriptive study. Journal of Vascular Nursing. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvn.2022.01.002
- Eakin, G., 2022. Lipedema Foundation Legato Lipedema Research Library: A resource for published lipedema research studies, curated by the Lipedema Foundation to support patients and researcher interests in the causes and cures for lipedema. [WWW Document]. Lipedema Foundation Legato Lipedema Research Library. URL https://www.lipedema.org/library (accessed 9.13.22).
- Ehrlich, C., Iker, E., Herbst, K.L., 2017. Lymphedema and lipedema nutrition guide: foods, vitamins, minerals, and supplements. Lymph Notes, San Francisco, CA.
- El Darouti, M.A., Marzouk, S.A., Mashaly, H.M., El Nabarawi, E.A., Abdel-Halim, M.R.E., El Komy, M.M., Hafez, V.G., Abdel Reheem, H.M., Moussa, K.M., 2007. Lipedema and lipedematous alopecia: report of 10 new cases. Eur J Dermatol 17, 351–352. https://doi.org/10.1684/ejd.2007.0226

- Erbacher, G., Mendoza, E., Bertsch, T., 2022. Thigh swelling in patients with lipedema subjective perception versus objective examination. Vasa 51, 386–388. https://doi.org/10.1024/0301-1526/a001033
- Ernst, A.M., Steiner, M., Kainz, V., Tempfer, H., Spitzer, G., Plank, T., Bauer, H.-C., Bresgen, N., Habenbacher, A., Bauer, H., Lipp, A.-T., 2023. Lipedema: The use of cultured adipocytes for identification of diagnostic markers. Plast Reconstr Surg. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.00000000010392
- Estève, D., Boulet, N., Belles, C., Zakaroff-Girard, A., Decaunes, P., Briot, A., Veeranagouda, Y., Didier, M., Remaury, A., Guillemot, J.C., Ledoux, S., Dani, C., Bouloumié, A., Galitzky, J., 2019. Lobular architecture of human adipose tissue defines the niche and fate of progenitor cells. Nat Commun 10, 2549. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-09992-3
- Fairbairn, J.F., 1963. Edema of the Extremities Caused Primarily by Regional Abnormalities. Circulation 27, 981–988. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.CIR.27.5.981
- Falck, J., Rolander, B., Nygårdh, A., Jonasson, L.-L., Mårtensson, J., 2022. Women with lipoedema: a national survey on their health, health-related quality of life, and sense of coherence. BMC Women's Health 22, 457. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-022-02022-3
- FDA-NIH Biomarker Working Group, 2016. BEST (Biomarkers, EndpointS, and other Tools) Resource. Food and Drug Administration (US), Silver Spring (MD).
- Felmerer, G., Stylianaki, A., Hägerling, R., Wang, A., Ströbel, P., Hollmén, M., Lindenblatt, N., Gousopoulos, E., 2020a. Adipose Tissue Hypertrophy, An Aberrant Biochemical Profile and Distinct Gene Expression in Lipedema. J Surg Res 253, 294–303. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jss.2020.03.055
- Felmerer, G., Stylianaki, A., Hollmén, M., Ströbel, P., Stepniewski, A., Wang, A., Frueh, F.S., Kim, B.-S., Giovanoli, P., Lindenblatt, N., Gousopoulos, E., 2020b. Increased levels of VEGF-C and macrophage infiltration in lipedema patients without changes in lymphatic vascular morphology. Sci Rep 10, 10947. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67987-3
- Fetzer, A., 2020. Women in dire need: the far-reaching impact of lipoedema on women's lives. Br J Community Nurs 25, S6–S9. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjcn.2020.25.Sup4.S6
- Fetzer, A., Fetzer, S., 2014. Lipoedema UK Blg Survey 2014 research report.
- Fife, C.E., Maus, E.A., Carter, M.J., 2010. Lipedema: a frequently misdiagnosed and misunderstood fatty deposition syndrome. Adv Skin Wound Care 23, 81–92; quiz 93–94. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.ASW.0000363503.92360.91
- Foeldi, E., 2008. Facts about lipoedema and lymph/lipoedema, in: Lymph-Lipoedema Treatment in Its Different Approaches. Presented at the 1st JOBST Scientific Symposium, Wounds UK, pp. 36–40.
- Foeldi, E., Foeldi, M., 2010. Local Diseases of the Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue, in: Földi, M., Asmussen,
 P.D. (Eds.), Lehrbuch Lymphologie für Ärzte, Physiotherapeuten und Masseure/med.
 Bademeister: mit dem Plus im Web ; Zugangscode im Buch. Elsevier, Urban & Fischer, München.
- Foeldi, E., Foeldi, M., 2002. Das Lipödem, in: Földi, M., Asmussen, P.D. (Eds.), Lehrbuch der Lymphologie: für Mediziner, Masseure und Physiotherapeuten. Urban & Fischer, München Jena.
- Földi, E., Földi, M., 2006. 9. Lipedema, in: Földi, M. (Ed.), Földi's Textbook of Lymphology: For Physicians and Lymphedema Therapists. Elsevier, Urban&FischerVerlag.
- Földi, E., Földi, M., 1984. Die Therapiemöglichkeiten des Lipödems, dessen mit verschiedenen Ergebnissen kombinierten Formen sowie der benignen symmetrischen Lipomatose. Swiss Med 6, 19–24.
- Földi, E., Földi, M., Tischendorf, F., 1983. [Adipositas, lipedema and lymphostasis]. Med Welt 34, 198–200.
- Földi, M., Idiazabal, G., 2000. The role of operative management of varicose veins in patients with lymphedema and/or lipedema of the legs. Lymphology 33, 167–171.

- Forner-Cordero, Isabel, Forner-Cordero, A., Szolnoky, G., 2021. Update in the management of lipedema. Int Angiol. https://doi.org/10.23736/S0392-9590.21.04604-6
- Forner-Cordero, I., Oliván-Sasot, P., Ruiz-Llorca, C., Muñoz-Langa, J., 2018. Lymphoscintigraphic findings in patients with lipedema. Rev Esp Med Nucl Imagen Mol 37, 341–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.remn.2018.06.008
- Forner-Cordero, I., Perez-Pomares, M.V., Forner, A., Ponce-Garrido, A.B., Munoz-Langa, J., 2021. Prevalence of clinical manifestations and orthopedic alterations in patients with lipedema: A prospective cohort study. Lymphology 54, 170–181.
- Forner-Cordero, I., Szolnoky, G., Forner-Cordero, A., Kemény, L., 2012. Lipedema: an overview of its clinical manifestations, diagnosis and treatment of the disproportional fatty deposition syndrome - systematic review. Clin Obes 2, 86–95. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-8111.2012.00045.x
- Fox, C.S., Massaro, J.M., Hoffmann, U., Pou, K.M., Maurovich-Horvat, P., Liu, C.-Y., Vasan, R.S., Murabito, J.M., Meigs, J.B., Cupples, L.A., D'Agostino, R.B., O'Donnell, C.J., 2007. Abdominal Visceral and Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Compartments. Circulation 116, 39–48. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.106.675355
- Gealekman, O., Guseva, N., Hartigan, C., Apotheker, S., Gorgoglione, M., Gurav, K., Tran, K.-V.,
 Straubhaar, J., Nicoloro, S., Czech, M.P., Thompson, M., Perugini, R.A., Corvera, S., 2011. Depot
 Specific Differences and Insufficient Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Angiogenesis in Human
 Obesity. Circulation 123, 186–194. https://doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.970145
- Gensior, M.H.L., Cornely, M., 2019. [Pain in lipoedema, fat in lipoedema and its consequences: results of a patient survey based on a pain questionnaire]. Handchir Mikrochir Plast Chir 51, 249–254. https://doi.org/10.1055/a-0942-9607
- Ghods, M., 2021. In Reply to: Herpertz "The Prevalence was probably overestimated." Dtsch Arztebl Int 118, 39–40. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.m2021.0060
- Ghods, M., Georgiou, I., Schmidt, J., Kruppa, P., 2020. Disease progression and comorbidities in lipedema patients: A 10-year retrospective analysis. Dermatol Ther 33, e14534. https://doi.org/10.1111/dth.14534
- Gould, D.J., El-Sabawi, B., Goel, P., Badash, I., Colletti, P., Patel, K.M., 2020. Uncovering Lymphatic Transport Abnormalities in Patients with Primary Lipedema. J Reconstr Microsurg 36, 136–141. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0039-1697904
- Greer, K.E., 1974. LIPEDEMA OF LEGS. Cutis 14, 98–100.
- Gregl, A., 1987. [Lipedema]. Z Lymphol 11, 41–43.
- Grigoriadis, D., Sackey, E., Riches, K., Zanten, M. van, Brice, G., England, R., Mills, M., Dobbins, S.E.,
 Lipoedema Consortium, G.E.R.C., Jeffery, S., Dong, L., Savage, D.B., Mortimer, P.S., Keeley, V.,
 Pittman, A., Gordon, K., Ostergaard, P., Lee, L.L., 2022. Investigation of clinical characteristics and genome associations in the 'UK Lipoedema' cohort. PLOS ONE 17, e0274867.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0274867
- Gualtieri, P., Al-Wadart, M., De Santis, G.L., Alwadart, N., Della Morte, D., Clarke, C., Best, T., Salimei, C., Bigioni, G., Cianci, R., De Lorenzo, A., Di Renzo, L., 2023. The role of MTHFR polymorphisms in the risk of lipedema. European Review for Medical and Pharmacological Sciences 27, 1625– 1632. https://doi.org/10.26355/eurrev_202302_31407
- Hadjis, N.S., Carr, D.H., Banks, L., Pflug, J.J., 1985. The role of CT in the diagnosis of primary lymphedema of the lower limb. AJR Am J Roentgenol 144, 361–364. https://doi.org/10.2214/ajr.144.2.361
- Hägerling, R., Hoppe, E., Dierkes, C., Stehling, M., Makinen, T., Butz, S., Vestweber, D., Kiefer, F., 2018.
 Distinct roles of VE-cadherin for development and maintenance of specific lymph vessel beds.
 EMBO J 37, e98271. https://doi.org/10.15252/embj.201798271

- Halk, A.B., Damstra, R.J., 2017. First Dutch guidelines on lipedema using the international classification of functioning, disability and health. Phlebology 32, 152–159. https://doi.org/10.1177/0268355516639421
- Hamatschek, M., Knors, H., Klietz, M.-L., Wiebringhaus, P., Aitzetmueller, M., Hirsch, T., Kueckelhaus, M., 2022. Characteristics and Patient Reported Outcome Measures in Lipedema Patients—
 Establishing a Baseline for Treatment Evaluation in a High-Volume Center. Journal of Clinical Medicine 11, 2836. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm11102836
- Harwood, C.A., Bull, R.H., Evans, J., Mortimer, P.S., 1996. Lymphatic and venous function in lipoedema. Br J Dermatol 134, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2133.1996.d01-741.x
- Herbst, K.L., 2020. Insights on the Pathophysiology, Diagnosis and Treatment of Lipedema. Today's Wound Clinic.
- Herbst, K.L., 2019. Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue Diseases: Dercum Disease, Lipedema, Familial Multiple Lipomatosis, and Madelung Disease., in: Feingold, K.R., Anawalt, B., Boyce, A., Chrousos, G., de Herder, W.W., Dungan, K., Grossman, A., Hershman, J.M., Hofland, H.J., Kaltsas, G., Koch, C., Kopp, P., Korbonits, M., McLachlan, R., Morley, J.E., New, M., Purnell, J., Singer, F., Stratakis, C.A., Trence, D.L., Wilson, D.P. (Eds.), Endotext. MDText.com, Inc., South Dartmouth (MA).
- Herbst, K.L., 2012. Rare adipose disorders (RADs) masquerading as obesity. Acta Pharmacol Sin 33, 155– 172. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2011.153
- Herbst, Karen L., Hansen, E.A., Cobos Salinas, L.M., Wright, T.F., Larson, E.E., Schwartz, J.S., 2021. Survey Outcomes of Lipedema Reduction Surgery in the United States. Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery – Global Open 9, e3553. https://doi.org/10.1097/GOX.00000000003553
- Herbst, Karen L, Kahn, L.A., Iker, E., Ehrlich, C., Wright, T., McHutchison, L., Schwartz, J., Sleigh, M., Donahue, P.M., Lisson, K.H., Faris, T., Miller, J., Lontok, E., Schwartz, M.S., Dean, S.M., Bartholomew, J.R., Armour, P., Correa-Perez, M., Pennings, N., Wallace, E.L., Larson, E., 2021. Standard of care for lipedema in the United States. Phlebology 02683555211015887. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/02683555211015887
- Herbst, K.L., Mirkovskaya, L., Bharhagava, A., Chava, Y., Te, C.H.T., 2015. Lipedema Fat and Signs and Symptoms of Illness, Increase with Advancing Stage. ARCHIVES OF MEDICINE 7, 8.
- Herbst, K.L., Ussery, C., Eekema, A., 2017. Pilot study: whole body manual subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) therapy improved pain and SAT structure in women with lipedema. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig 33. https://doi.org/10.1515/hmbci-2017-0035
- Herpertz, U., 2021. The Prevalence Was Probably Overestimated (Comment on Kruppa 2020). Dtsch Arztebl Int 118, 39. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.m2021.0059
- Herpertz, U., 2004. Entstehungszeitpunkt von Lipödemen. LymphForsch 8, 79–81.
- Herpertz, U., 2001. Die häufigsten Beinödeme: Differenzierung zwischen Phlebödem, Lymphödem und Lipödem. Phlebologie 30, 48–52. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1617269
- Herpertz, U., 1997. Krankheitsspektrum des Lipoedems an einer Lymphologischen Fachklinik-Erscheinungsformen, Mischbilder und Behandlungsmoeglichkeiten: Erlaeuterung der unterschiedlichen Formen der Fettgewebsvermehrungen und des Lipoedems. Eine Studie zum Verteilungsmuster der Lipoedemformen wird vorgestellt. VASOMED-BONN- 9, 301–307.
- Herpertz, U., 1995. [Lipedema]. Z Lymphol 19, 1–11.
- Herpertz, U., 1993. Das Lipödem-was ist das genau? Physiotherapie.
- Ibarra, M., Eekema, A., Ussery, C., Neuhardt, D., Garby, K., Herbst, K.L., 2018. Subcutaneous adipose tissue therapy reduces fat by dual X-ray absorptiometry scan and improves tissue structure by ultrasound in women with lipoedema and Dercum disease. Clin Obes 8, 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1111/cob.12281
- Ignjatović, M., Cerović, S., 1999. [Lipedema of the leg associated with dermatomyositis]. Vojnosanit Pregl 56, 439–443.

Iker, E., 2022. Ultrasound Use in Lipedema and Lymphedema.

- Iker, E., Mayfield, C.K., Gould, D.J., Patel, K.M., 2019. Characterizing Lower Extremity Lymphedema and Lipedema with Cutaneous Ultrasonography and an Objective Computer-Assisted Measurement of Dermal Echogenicity. Lymphat Res Biol 17, 525–530. https://doi.org/10.1089/Irb.2017.0090
- Infante, J.R., García, L., Laguna, P., Durán, C., Rayo, J.I., Serrano, J., Domínguez, M.L., Sánchez, R., 2012. Lymphoscintigraphy for differential diagnosis of peripheral edema: diagnostic yield of different scintigraphic patterns. Rev Esp Med Nucl Imagen Mol 31, 237–242. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.remn.2011.11.011
- Irrthum, A., Devriendt, K., Chitayat, D., Matthijs, G., Glade, C., Steijlen, P.M., Fryns, J.-P., Van Steensel, M.A.M., Vikkula, M., 2003. Mutations in the transcription factor gene SOX18 underlie recessive and dominant forms of hypotrichosis-lymphedema-telangiectasia. Am J Hum Genet 72, 1470– 1478. https://doi.org/10.1086/375614
- Ishaq, M., Bandara, N., Morgan, S., Nowell, C., Mehdi, A.M., Lyu, R., McCarthy, D., Anderson, D., Creek, D.J., Achen, M.G., Shayan, R., Karnezis, T., 2021. Key signaling networks are dysregulated in patients with the adipose tissue disorder, lipedema. Int J Obes 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41366-021-01002-1
- Jagtman, B.A., Kuiper, J.P., 1987. [Lipedema of the legs]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd 131, 345–348.
- Jagtman, B.A., Kuiper, J.P., Brakkee, A.J., 1984. [Measurements of skin elasticity in patients with lipedema of the Moncorps "rusticanus" type]. Phlebologie 37, 315–319.
- Jandali, Z., Jiga, L.P., Campisi, C. (Eds.), 2022. Lipedema: A Practical Guidebook. Springer International Publishing, Cham. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-86717-1
- Jobin, K., Müller, D.N., Jantsch, J., Kurts, C., 2021. Sodium and its manifold impact on our immune system. Trends Immunol 42, 469–479. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2021.04.002
- Karastergiou, K., Smith, S.R., Greenberg, A.S., Fried, S.K., 2012. Sex differences in human adipose tissues – the biology of pear shape. Biol Sex Differ 3, 13. https://doi.org/10.1186/2042-6410-3-13
- Karia, P.S., Joshu, C.E., Visvanathan, K., 2021. Association of oophorectomy and fat and lean body mass: evidence from a population-based sample of U.S. women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 30, 1424–1432. https://doi.org/10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-20-1849
- Kataru, R.P., Park, H.J., Baik, J.E., Li, C., Shin, J., Mehrara, B.J., 2020. Regulation of Lymphatic Function in Obesity. Front. Physiol. 11, 459. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2020.00459
- Katzer, K., Hill, J.L., McIver, K.B., Foster, M.T., 2021. Lipedema and the Potential Role of Estrogen in Excessive Adipose Tissue Accumulation. International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22, 11720. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222111720
- Kenani, N., Ghariani, N., Trimèche, M., Belajouza, C., Denguezli, M., Nouira, R., 2008.
 [Pseudocondylomatous lymphangiectasia of the vulva secondary to lipoedema]. Ann Dermatol Venereol 135, 341–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annder.2007.11.025
- Ketterings, C., 1988. Lipodystrophy and its treatment. Ann Plast Surg 21, 536–543. https://doi.org/10.1097/00000637-198812000-00008
- Kinmonth, J.B., 1982. The Lymphatics: surgery, lymphography and diseases of the chyle and lymph systems, 2nd ed. Edward Arnold, Ltd, London.
- Klimentidis, Y.C., Chen, Z., Gonzalez-Garay, M.L., Grigoriadis, D., Sackey, E., Pittman, A., Ostergaard, P., Herbst, K.L., 2022. Genome-wide association study of a lipedema phenotype among women in the UK Biobank identifies multiple genetic risk factors. Eur J Hum Genet 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41431-022-01231-6
- Koyama, H., Tanaka, T., Imaeda, K., 2017. Suspected case of lipoedema in Japanese woman with a characteristic histology in skin biopsy. BMJ Case Rep 2017. https://doi.org/10.1136/bcr-2017-221049

Version 1

- Kruglikov, I.L., Joffin, N., Scherer, P.E., 2020. The MMP14-caveolin axis and its potential relevance for lipoedema. Nat Rev Endocrinol. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-020-0395-z
- Kruglikov, I.L., Scherer, P.E., 2022. Pathophysiology of cellulite: Possible involvement of selective endotoxemia. Obesity Reviews. https://doi.org/10.1111/obr.13517
- Kruppa, P., Georgiou, I., Biermann, N., Prantl, L., Klein-Weigel, P., Ghods, M., 2020. Lipedema-Pathogenesis, Diagnosis, and Treatment Options. Dtsch Arztebl Int 117, 396–403. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2020.0396
- Kruppa, P., Georgiou, I., Schmidt, J., Infanger, M., Ghods, M., 2022. A 10-Year Retrospective before-andafter Study of Lipedema Surgery: Patient-Reported Lipedema-Associated Symptom Improvement after Multistage Liposuction. Plast Reconstr Surg. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.00000000008880
- Kruppa, P., Ghods, M., 2022. Lipödem, in: Hoffmann, U., Weiss, N., Czihal, M., Linnemann, B., Freisinger, E. (Eds.), Klinische Angiologie, Springer Reference Medizin. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-61379-5_172-1
- Laignel-Lavastine, M., Viard, M., 1912. Adipose Segmentaire Des Membres Inférieurs, in: Charcot, J., Richer, P., Londe, A. (Eds.), Nouvelle iconographie de la Salpêtrière. Masson et Cie, Editeurs. LIBRAIRES DE L'ACADÉMIE DE MÉDECINE, Paris, pp. 474–482.
- Langendoen, S.I., Habbema, L., Nijsten, T.E.C., Neumann, H.A.M., 2009. Lipoedema: from clinical presentation to therapy. A review of the literature. Br J Dermatol 161, 980–986. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2009.09413.x
- Lemaitre, M., Chevalier, B., Jannin, A., Bourry, J., Espiard, S., Vantyghem, M.-C., 2021. Multiple symmetric and multiple familial lipomatosis. Presse Med 50, 104077. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lpm.2021.104077
- Lim, U., Ernst, T., Buchthal, S.D., Latch, M., Albright, C.L., Wilkens, L.R., Kolonel, L.N., Murphy, S.P., Chang, L., Novotny, R., Le Marchand, L., 2011. Asian women have greater abdominal and visceral adiposity than Caucasian women with similar body mass index. Nutr & Diabetes 1, e6–e6. https://doi.org/10.1038/nutd.2011.2
- Lipedema Foundation, 2022a. Learning By Listening: Early Findings from the Lipedema Foundation Registry Survey. Lipedema Foundation, Greenwich, CT.
- Lipedema Foundation, 2022b. Lipedema Diagnosis Comparison Chart: A Summary of Commonly Used Guidelines. Lipedema Foundation, Greenwich, CT.
- Lohrmann, C., Foeldi, E., Langer, M., 2009. MR imaging of the lymphatic system in patients with lipedema and lipo-lymphedema. Microvasc Res 77, 335–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mvr.2009.01.005
- Long, L.W.X., 2021. [Research progress of lipoedema] Mandarin. Basic & Clinical Medicine 41, 438.
- Ludwig, M., Vetter, H., 1989. [Diagnosis and differential diagnosis of swollen leg]. Schweiz Rundsch Med Prax 78, 987–992.
- Lyon, I.P., 1910. ADIPOSIS AND LIPOMATOSIS: CONSIDERED IN REFERENCE TO THEIR CONSTITUTIONAL RELATIONS AND SYMPTOMATOLOGY. Archives of Internal Medicine VI, 28–120. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1910.00050290033005
- Ma, W., Gil, H.J., Escobedo, N., Benito-Martín, A., Ximénez-Embún, P., Muñoz, J., Peinado, H., Rockson, S.G., Oliver, G., 2020. Platelet factor 4 is a biomarker for lymphatic-promoted disorders. JCl Insight 5. https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.135109
- Mackie, H., Thompson, B.M., Suami, H., Heydon-White, A., Blackwell, R., Tisdall Blake, F., Koelmeyer, L.A., 2023. Differentiation of lipoedema from bilateral lower limb lymphoedema by imaging assessment of indocyanine green lymphography. Clin Obes e12588. https://doi.org/10.1111/cob.12588

- Marshall, M., Schwahn-Schreiber, C., 2011. [Prevalence of lipoedema in professional women in Germany. (Lipoedema-3-study)]. Phlebologie 40, 127–134. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1621766
- Mazzei, F.G., Gentili, F., Guerrini, S., Cioffi Squitieri, N., Guerrieri, D., Gennaro, P., Scialpi, M., Volterrani, L., Mazzei, M.A., 2017. MR Lymphangiography: A Practical Guide to Perform It and a Brief Review of the Literature from a Technical Point of View. Biomed Res Int 2017, 2598358. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/2598358
- McCarthy, A.M., Menke, A., Visvanathan, K., 2013. Association of bilateral oophorectomy and body fatness in a representative sample of US women. Gynecol Oncol 129, 559–564. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygyno.2013.02.016
- Meier-Vollrath, I., Schmeller, W., 2004. [Lipoedema--current status, new perspectives]. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 2, 181–186. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1439-0353.2004.04051.x
- Meier-Vollrath, I., Schneider, W., Schmeller, W., 2005. Lipödem: Verbesserte Lebensqualität durch Therapiekombination. Deutsches Ärzteblatt 7.
- Melander, C., Juuso, P., Olsson, M., 2021. Women's experiences of living with lipedema. Health Care Women Int 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1080/07399332.2021.1932894
- Michelini, S., Chiurazzi, P., Marino, V., Dell'Orco, D., Manara, E., Baglivo, M., Fiorentino, A., Maltese, P.E., Pinelli, M., Herbst, K.L., Dautaj, A., Bertelli, M., 2020. Aldo-Keto Reductase 1C1 (AKR1C1) as the First Mutated Gene in a Family with Nonsyndromic Primary Lipedema. Int J Mol Sci 21. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21176264
- Michelini, S., Herbst, K.L., Precone, V., Manara, E., Marceddu, G., Dautaj, A., Maltese, P.E., Paolacci, S., Ceccarini, M.R., Beccari, T., Sorrentino, E., Aquilanti, B., Velluti, V., Matera, G., Gagliardi, L., Miggiano, G.A.D., Bertelli, M., 2022. A Multi-Gene Panel to Identify Lipedema-Predisposing Genetic Variants by a Next-Generation Sequencing Strategy. Journal of Personalized Medicine 12, 268. https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm12020268
- Moncorps, C., Brinkhaus, G., Herteld, F., others, 1940. Experimentelle untersuchungen zur frage akrozyanotischer zustandsbilder. Arch Derm Syph 186, 209–215.
- Monnin-Delhom, E.D., Gallix, B.P., Achard, C., Bruel, J.M., Janbon, C., 2002. High resolution unenhanced computed tomography in patients with swollen legs. Lymphology 35, 121–128.
- Morimoto, Y., Maskarinec, G., Conroy, S.M., Lim, U., Shepherd, J., Novotny, R., 2012. Asian ethnicity is associated with a higher trunk/peripheral fat ratio in women and adolescent girls. J Epidemiol 22, 130–135. https://doi.org/10.2188/jea.je20110100
- Muley, A., Kim Uh, M., Salazar-De Simone, G., Swaminathan, B., James, J.M., Murtomaki, A., Youn, S.W., McCarron, J.D., Kitajewski, C., Gnarra Buethe, M., Riitano, G., Mukouyama, Y.-S., Kitajewski, J., Shawber, C.J., 2021. Unique functions for Notch4 in murine embryonic lymphangiogenesis. Angiogenesis. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10456-021-09822-5
- Munguia, N., Mozayeni, B.R., Wright, T.F., Herbst, K.L., 2021. Dercum's disease: estimating the prevalence of a rare painful loose connective tissue disease. Future Rare Diseases 1, FRD4. https://doi.org/10.2217/frd-2020-0004
- Nankam, P., Cornely, M., Klöting, N., Blüher, M., 2022. Is subcutaneous adipose tissue expansion in people living with lipedema healthier and reflected by circulating parameters? Frontiers in Endocrinology 13, 1000094. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2022.1000094
- Naouri, M., Samimi, M., Atlan, M., Perrodeau, E., Vallin, C., Zakine, G., Vaillant, L., Machet, L., 2010. High-resolution cutaneous ultrasonography to differentiate lipoedema from lymphoedema. Br J Dermatol 163, 296–301. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2010.09810.x
- Nemes, A., Kormányos, Á., 2022. Prevalence of left ventricular "rigid body rotation", the near absence of left ventricular twist (insights from the MAGYAR studies). Rev Cardiovasc Med 23, 5. https://doi.org/10.31083/j.rcm2301005

- Nemes, A., Kormanyos, A., Domsik, P., Kalapos, A., Kemeny, L., Forster, T., Szolnoky, G., 2018. Left ventricular rotational mechanics differ between lipedema and lymphedema: Insights from the three-dimensional speckle tracking echocardiographic MAGYAR-path study. Lymphology 51, 102–108.
- Nemes, A., Kovács, Z., Kormányos, Á., Domsik, P., Kalapos, A., Piros, G.Á., Kemény, L., Forster, T., Szolnoky, G., 2019. The mitral annulus in lipedema: Insights from the three-dimensional speckletracking echocardiographic MAGYAR-Path Study. Echocardiography 36, 1482–1491. https://doi.org/10.1111/echo.14429
- Orphanet, 2022. Search for a rare disease: Lipedema [WWW Document]. URL https://www.orpha.net/consor/cgi-bin/Disease_Search.php?lng=EN&data_id=11100 (accessed 11.21.22).
- Paling, I., Macintyre, L., 2020. Survey of lipoedema symptoms and experience with compression garments. Br J Community Nurs 25, S17–S22. https://doi.org/10.12968/bjcn.2020.25.Sup4.S17
- PANAGOPOULOS, I., GORUNOVA, L., BJERKEHAGEN, B., LOBMAIER, I., HEIM, S., 2015. The recurrent chromosomal translocation t(12;18) (q14~15;q12~21) causes the fusion gene HMGA2-SETBP1 and HMGA2 expression in lipoma and osteochondrolipoma. Int J Oncol 47, 884–890. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2015.3099
- Partsch, H., Stöberl, C., Urbanek, A., Wenzel-Hora, B.I., 1988. Clinical use of indirect lymphography in different forms of leg edema. Lymphology 21, 152–160.
- Pavlov-Dolijanovic, S.R., Vujasinovic Stupar, N.Z., Gavrilov, N., Seric, S., 2014. Lower extremity lipedema, upper extremity lipodystrophy and severe calcinosis complicating juvenile dermatomyositis. Rheumatol Int 34, 1615–1618. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00296-014-3031-1
- Pereira de Godoy, L.M., Godoy, L.M.P. de, Godoy, M. de F.G., Godoy, J.M.P. de, 2022. Lipedema in Male Progressing to Subclinical and Clinical Systemic Lymphedema. J Med Cases 13, 249–252. https://doi.org/10.14740/jmc.v0i0.3806
- Petersen, K.J., Garza, M., Donahue, P.M.C., Harkins, K.D., Marton, A., Titze, J., Donahue, M.J., Crescenzi, R., 2020. Neuroimaging of Cerebral Blood Flow and Sodium in Women with Lipedema. Obesity (Silver Spring) 28, 1292–1300. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.22837
- Petit, M.M.R., Schoenmakers, E.F.P.M., Huysmans, C., Geurts, J.M.W., Mandahl, N., Van de Ven, W.J.M., 1999. LHFP, a Novel Translocation Partner Gene of HMGICin a Lipoma, Is a Member of a New Family of LHFP-like Genes. Genomics 57, 438–441. https://doi.org/10.1006/geno.1999.5778
- Pouwels, S., Smelt, H.J., Said, M., Smulders, J.F., Hoogbergen, M.M., 2019. Mobility Problems and Weight Regain by Misdiagnosed Lipoedema After Bariatric Surgery: Illustrating the Medical and Legal Aspects. Cureus 11, e5388. https://doi.org/10.7759/cureus.5388
- Priglinger, E., Wurzer, C., Steffenhagen, C., Maier, J., Hofer, V., Peterbauer, A., Nuernberger, S., Redl, H., Wolbank, S., Sandhofer, M., 2017. The adipose tissue-derived stromal vascular fraction cells from lipedema patients: Are they different? Cytotherapy 19, 849–860. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2017.03.073
- Rank, B.K., Wong, G.S.C., 1966. Lipoedema. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Surgery 35, 165–169. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1445-2197.1966.tb06053.x
- Rapprich, S., Baum, S., Kaak, I., Kottmann, T., Podda, M., 2015. Treatment of lipoedema using liposuction: Results of our own surveys. Phlebologie 44, 121–132. https://doi.org/10.12687/phleb2265-3-2015
- Rapprich, S., Dingler, A., Podda, M., 2011. Liposuction is an effective treatment for lipedema-results of a study with 25 patients. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 9, 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1610-0387.2010.07504.x
- Rasmussen, J.C., Aldrich, M.B., Fife, C.E., Herbst, K.L., Sevick-Muraca, E.M., 2022. Lymphatic function and anatomy in early stages of lipedema. Obesity n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.23458

- Redondo, P. de A.G., Gubert, F., Zaverucha-do-Valle, C., Dutra, T.P.P., Ayres-Silva, J. de P., Fernandes, N., de Souza, A.A.P., Loizidou, M., Takiya, C.M., Rossi, M.I.D., Borojevic, R., 2020. Lymphatic vessels in human adipose tissue. Cell Tissue Res 379, 511–520. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00441-019-03108-5
- Reich-Schupke, S., Schmeller, W., Brauer, W.J., Cornely, M.E., Faerber, G., Ludwig, M., Lulay, G., Miller,
 A., Rapprich, S., Richter, D.F., Schacht, V., Schrader, K., Stücker, M., Ure, C., 2017. S1 guidelines:
 Lipedema. J Dtsch Dermatol Ges 15, 758–767. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddg.13036
- Rockson, S.G., Zhou, X., Zhao, L., Hosseini, D.K., Jiang, X., Sweatt, A.J., Kim, D., Tian, W., Snyder, M.P., Nicolls, M.R., 2022. Exploring disease interrelationships in patients with lymphatic disorders: A single center retrospective experience. Clinical and translational medicine 12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ctm2.760
- Romeijn, J.R.M., de Rooij, M.J.M., Janssen, L., Martens, H., 2018. Exploration of Patient Characteristics and Quality of Life in Patients with Lipoedema Using a Survey. Dermatol Ther (Heidelb) 8, 303– 311. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13555-018-0241-6
- Rosas, V., Al-Ghadban, S., Herbst, K., 2018. Lower Progesterone Receptors on Mast Cells Do Not Effect Blood Vessel Replication in Lipedema, in: The FASEB Journal. Presented at the Experimental Biology 2018, p. 812.9-812.9. https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2018.32.1_supplement.812.9
- Rossitto, G., Delles, C., 2022. Does Excess Tissue Sodium Storage Regulate Blood Pressure? Curr Hypertens Rep. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11906-022-01180-x
- Rudkin, G.H., Miller, T.A., 1994. Lipedema: a clinical entity distinct from lymphedema. Plast Reconstr Surg 94, 841–7; discussion 848-849.
- Ruh, U., Hasan, K., 2017. Lipoedema: The Immitator "A case report with a review of literature." Asian Journal of Medicine and Biomedicine 1, 38–42.
- Safar, L., George, S., 2021. Lipedema and lipedematous scalp: An overview. JSSTD 0, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.25259/JSSTD_38_2021
- Sanchez-Jimenez, J.L., Priego-Quesada, J.I., Gisbert-Ruiz, M.J., Cibrian-Ortiz de Anda, R.M., Perez-Soriano, P., Aparicio, I., 2023. Effect of Compression Tights on Skin Temperature in Women with Lipedema. Applied Sciences 13, 1133. https://doi.org/10.3390/app13021133
- Sandhofer, M., Schauer, P., Sandhofer, M., Anderhuber, F., 2017. Lipödem. J Ästhet Chir 10, 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12631-017-0087-2
- Sandhofer, Matthias, Hanke, C.W., Habbema, L., Podda, M., Rapprich, S., Schmeller, W., Herbst, K.,
 Anderhuber, F., Pilsl, U., Sattler, G., Sandhofer, Martina, Moosbauer, W., Sattler, S., Schauer, P.,
 Faulhaber, J., Maier, S., Barsch, M., Mindt, S., Halk, A.B., 2020. Prevention of Progression of
 Lipedema With Liposuction Using Tumescent Local Anesthesia: Results of an International
 Consensus Conference. Dermatol Surg 46, 220–228.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/DSS.00000000002019
- Scallan, J., Huxley, V.H., Korthuis, R.J., 2010. Pathophysiology of Edema Formation, Capillary Fluid Exchange: Regulation, Functions, and Pathology. Morgan & Claypool Life Sciences.
- Scheuer, S.H., Færch, K., Philipsen, A., Jørgensen, M.E., Johansen, N.B., Carstensen, B., Witte, D.R.,
 Andersen, I., Lauritzen, T., Andersen, G.S., 2015. Abdominal Fat Distribution and Cardiovascular
 Risk in Men and Women With Different Levels of Glucose Tolerance. The Journal of Clinical
 Endocrinology & Metabolism 100, 3340–3347. https://doi.org/10.1210/JC.2014-4479
- Schmeller, W., Hueppe, M., Meier-Vollrath, I., 2012. Tumescent liposuction in lipoedema yields good long-term results. Br. J. Dermatol. 166, 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2133.2011.10566.x

Schmeller, W., Meier-Vollrath, I., 2008. Schmerzen beim Lipödem. LymphForsch 12, 7–11.

Schmitz, R., 1987. [Lipedema from the differential diagnostic and therapeutic viewpoint]. Z. Hautkr. 62, 146–157.

Schmitz, R., 1980. [Lipedema--the fat leg of the healthy woman]. Med Welt 31, 798–800.

Schneider, R., 2020. Low-frequency vibrotherapy considerably improves the effectiveness of manual lymphatic drainage (MLD) in patients with lipedema: A two-armed, randomized, controlled pragmatic trial. Physiother Theory Pract 36, 63–70. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593985.2018.1479474

Schook, C.C., Mulliken, J.B., Fishman, S.J., Alomari, A.I., Grant, F.D., Greene, A.K., 2011. Differential diagnosis of lower extremity enlargement in pediatric patients referred with a diagnosis of lymphedema. Plast Reconstr Surg 127, 1571–1581. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.0b013e31820a64f3

Shin, B.W., Sim, Y.-J., Jeong, H.J., Kim, G.C., 2011. Lipedema, a rare disease. Ann Rehabil Med 35, 922– 927. https://doi.org/10.5535/arm.2011.35.6.922

Shinaoka, A., Koshimune, S., Suami, H., Yamada, K., Kumagishi, K., Boyages, J., Kimata, Y., Ohtsuka, A.,
 2020. Lower-Limb Lymphatic Drainage Pathways and Lymph Nodes: A CT Lymphangiography
 Cadaver Study. Radiology 294, 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2019191169

Shinaoka, A., Koshimune, S., Yamada, K., Kumagishi, K., Suami, H., Kimata, Y., Ohtsuka, A., 2019. Correlations between Tracer Injection Sites and Lymphatic Pathways in the Leg: A Near-Infrared Fluorescence Lymphography Study. Plastic and Reconstructive Surgery 144, 634–642. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.00000000005982

Simarro, J.L., 2022. Hypothesis on the Relation to Venous Disease and Lipedema.

Sørlie, V., De Soysa, A.K., Hyldmo, Å.A., Retterstøl, K., Martins, C., Nymo, S., 2021. Effect of a ketogenic diet on pain and quality of life in patients with lipedema: The LIPODIET pilot study. Obesity Science & Practice. https://doi.org/10.1002/osp4.580

Stallworth, J.M., 1974. The chronically swollen painful extremity. A detailed study for possible etiological factors. JAMA: The Journal of the American Medical Association 228, 1656–1659. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.228.13.1656

Stemmer, R., 1976. [A clinical symptom for the early and differential diagnosis of lymphedema]. Vasa 5, 261–262.

Stöberl, C., Partsch, H., Urbanek, A., Földi, E., Mannheimer, E., 1986. Indirekte Lymphographie bei Lipödem, in: : Perimed, pp. 129–32.

Streeten, D.H., 1995. Idiopathic edema. Pathogenesis, clinical features, and treatment. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 24, 531–547.

Strohmeier, K., Hofmann, M., Jacak, J., Narzt, M.-S., Wahlmueller, M., Mairhofer, M., Schaedl, B., Holnthoner, W., Barsch, M., Sandhofer, M., Wolbank, S., Priglinger, E., 2022. Multi-Level Analysis of Adipose Tissue Reveals the Relevance of Perivascular Subpopulations and an Increased Endothelial Permeability in Early-Stage Lipedema. Biomedicines 10, 1163. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines10051163

Strößenreuther, R., Baumeister, R.G.H., 2001. Lipödem und Cellulitis: sowie andere Erkrankungen des Fettgewebes. Viavital-Verl, Köln.

Stutz, J., 2015. Lipedema can be life-threatening: Increased rates of suicide attempts, depression, and eating disorders among women with lipedema. [Conference session]. Presented at the 25th World Congress of Lymphology, San Francisco.

Stutz, J., 2011. Liposuktion beim Lipödem zur Verhinderung von Gelenkspätkomplikationen. Vasomed Journal 23, 5.

Stutz, J.J., Krahl, D., 2009. Water jet-assisted liposuction for patients with lipoedema: histologic and immunohistologic analysis of the aspirates of 30 lipoedema patients. Aesthetic Plast Surg 33, 153–162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00266-008-9214-y

- Sucker, C., Schmidt-Lucke, J.-A., Litmathe, J., 2021. [Hematoma in lipedema: from cutaneous origin or defect of coagulation?]. Wien Med Wochenschr 171, 48–52. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10354-020-00792-9
- Suga, H., Araki, J., Aoi, N., Kato, H., Higashino, T., Yoshimura, K., 2009. Adipose tissue remodeling in lipedema: adipocyte death and concurrent regeneration. J Cutan Pathol 36, 1293–1298. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0560.2009.01256.x
- Sun, C., Kovacs, P., Guiu-Jurado, E., 2021. Genetics of Body Fat Distribution: Comparative Analyses in Populations with European, Asian and African Ancestries. Genes (Basel) 12, 841. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes12060841
- Szél, E., Kemény, L., Groma, G., Szolnoky, G., 2014. Pathophysiological dilemmas of lipedema. Med Hypotheses 83, 599–606. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2014.08.011
- Szolnoky, G., 2011. Differential Diagnosis Lipedema, in: Lee, B.-B., Bergan, J., Rockson, S.G. (Eds.), Lymphedema: A Concise Compendium of Theory and Practice. Springer, London, pp. 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-85729-567-5_17
- Szolnoky, G., Ifeoluwa, A., Tuczai, M., Varga, E., Varga, M., Dosa-Racz, E., Kemeny, L., 2017. Measurement of capillary fragility: a useful tool to differentiate lipedema from obesity? Lymphology 50, 203–209.
- Szolnoky, G., Nagy, N., Kovács, R.K., Dósa-Rácz, E., Szabó, A., Bársony, K., Balogh, M., Kemény, L., 2008. Complex decongestive physiotherapy decreases capillary fragility in lipedema. Lymphology 41, 161–166.
- Szolnoky, G., Nemes, A., Gavallér, H., Forster, T., Kemény, L., 2012. Lipedema is associated with increased aortic stiffness. Lymphology 45, 71–79.
- Szolnoky, G., Varga, E., Varga, M., Tuczai, M., Dósa-Rácz, E., Kemény, L., 2011. Lymphedema treatment decreases pain intensity in lipedema. Lymphology 44, 178–182.
- Tartaglione, G., Visconti, G., Bartoletti, R., Ieria, F.P., Salgarello, M., 2020. Rest/stress intradermal lymphoscintigraphy in diagnosis of lipedema. World J Nucl Med 19, 376–381. https://doi.org/10.4103/wjnm.WJNM_5_20
- Taylor, N.E., Foster, W.C., Wick, M.R., Patterson, J.W., 2004. Tumefactive lipedema with pseudoxanthoma elasticum-like microscopic changes. J Cutan Pathol 31, 205–209. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0303-6987.2004.00168.x
- Taylor, S.L., Donahue, P.M.C., Pridmore, M.D., Garza, M.E., Patel, N.J., Custer, C.A., Luo, Y., Aday, A.W., Beckman, J.A., Donahue, M.J., Crescenzi, R.L., 2023. Semiautomated segmentation of lower extremity MRI reveals distinctive subcutaneous adipose tissue in lipedema: a pilot study. J Med Imaging (Bellingham) 10, 036001. https://doi.org/10.1117/1.JMI.10.3.036001
- Theoharides, T.C., 2013. Atopic Conditions in Search of Pathogenesis and Therapy. Clinical Therapeutics 35, 544–547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinthera.2013.04.002
- Tiedjen, K., Heimann, K., Tiedjen-Kraft, U., others, 1992. Indirect xero-lymphography in lymphedema, lipedema and venous insufficiency. Phlebologie 92, 396–8.
- Tiedjen, K., Schulz-Ehrenburg, U., 1985. Isotope lymphographic findings in lipedema, in: Holzmann, H., Altmeyer, P., Hör, G., Hahn, K. (Eds.), Dermatologie und Nuklearmedizin. Presented at the Frankfurter Gespräch, Springer, Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 432–438.
- Tiwari, A., Cheng, K.-S., Button, M., Myint, F., Hamilton, G., 2003. Differential diagnosis, investigation, and current treatment of lower limb lymphedema. Arch Surg 138, 152–161. https://doi.org/10.1001/archsurg.138.2.152
- Tiwari, A., Myint, F., Hamilton, G., 2006. Management of lower limb lymphoedema in the United Kingdom. Eur J Vasc Endovasc Surg 31, 311–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejvs.2005.09.017
- Torre, Y.S.-D. la, Wadeea, R., Rosas, V., Herbst, K.L., 2018. Lipedema: friend and foe. Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig 33. https://doi.org/10.1515/hmbci-2017-0076

- Turhal, C., Soyupek, F., Baykal, T., 2023. Posture Analysis and Presence of Sacroiliac Joint Dysfunction in Patients With Chronic Lower Extremity Edema. J Contemp Med 13, 294–300. https://doi.org/10.16899/jcm.1246494
- Ünlü, Z., Çavuşoğlu, T., Kosova, F., Aydin, A., 2022. THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN ADIPOKINES AND THE THICKNESS OF SUBCUTANEOUS ADIPOSE TISSUE IN LIPEDEMA. CBU-SBED. https://doi.org/10.34087/cbusbed.1062223
- Unlu, Z., Kartal, N.M., 2018. Localized Lipedema on the Medial Aspects of Knee: A Case Report. J Clin Res Case Rep 2, 107–108.
- van de Pas, C.B., Boonen, R.S., Stevens, S., Willemsen, S., Valkema, R., Neumann, M., 2020. Does tumescent liposuction damage the lymph vessels in lipoedema patients? Phlebology 35, 231– 236. https://doi.org/10.1177/0268355519885217
- van Esch-Smeenge, J., Damstra, R.J., Hendrickx, A.A., 2017. Muscle strength and functional exercise capacity in patients with lipoedema and obesity: a comparative study. Journal of Lymphoedema 12, 5.
- van Geest, A.J., Esten, S.C.A.M., Cambier, J.-P.R.A., Gielen, E.G.J., Kessels, A., Neumann, H.A.M., van Kroonenburgh, M.J.P.G., 2003. Lymphatic disturbances in lipoedema. Phlebologie 32, 138–142. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0037-1621466
- Vaqueiro, M., Gloviczki, P., Fisher, J., Hollier, L.H., Schirger, A., Wahner, H.W., 1986. Lymphoscintigraphy in lymphedema: an aid to microsurgery. J Nucl Med 27, 1125–1130.
- Vaquero Ramiro, E., Gutiérrez Retortillo, M., Goiri Noguera, D., Morello Ostos, P., Solera-Martínez, M., 2021. Diagnóstico y tratamiento del lipedema en España. Resultados de encuesta online. Rehabilitación. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rh.2020.12.001
- Volkan-Yazıcı, M., Yazici, G., Esmer, M., 2021. The Effects of Complex Decongestive Physiotherapy Applications on Lower Extremity Circumference and Volume in Patients with Lipedema. Lymphat Res Biol 19, 111–114. https://doi.org/10.1089/lrb.2020.0080
- Von Atzigen, J., Burger, A., Grünherz, L., Barbon, C., Felmerer, G., Giovanoli, P., Lindenblatt, N., Wolf, S., Gousopoulos, E., 2023. A Comparative Analysis to Dissect the Histological and Molecular Differences among Lipedema, Lipohypertrophy and Secondary Lymphedema. IJMS 24, 7591. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms24087591
- Waxler, J.L., Guardino, C., Feinn, R.S., Lee, H., Pober, B.R., Stanley, T.L., 2017. Altered body composition, lipedema, and decreased bone density in individuals with Williams syndrome: A preliminary report. Eur J Med Genet 60, 250–256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2017.02.007
- Weissleder, H., Brauer, J.W., Schuchhardt, C., Herpertz, U., 1995. [Value of functional lymphoscintigraphy and indirect lymphangiography in lipedema syndrome]. Z Lymphol 19, 38– 41.
- Weldring, T., Smith, S.M.S., 2013. Patient-Reported Outcomes (PROs) and Patient-Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs). Health Serv Insights 6, 61–68. https://doi.org/10.4137/HSI.S11093
- Werner, G.T., Rodiek, S.O., 1993. [Value of nuclear magnetic resonance tomography in leg edema of unknown origin. Preliminary report]. Z Lymphol 17, 2–5.
- White, U.A., Fitch, M.D., Beyl, R.A., Hellerstein, M.K., Ravussin, E., 2018. Racial differences in in vivo adipose lipid kinetics in humans. J. Lipid Res. 59, 1738–1744. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.P082628
- Wild, J., Jung, R., Knopp, T., Efentakis, P., Benaki, D., Grill, A., Wegner, J., Molitor, M., Garlapati, V., Rakova, N., Markó, L., Marton, A., Mikros, E., Münzel, T., Kossmann, S., Rauh, M., Nakano, D., Kitada, K., Luft, F., Waisman, A., Wenzel, P., Titze, J., Karbach, S., 2021. Aestivation motifs explain hypertension and muscle mass loss in mice with psoriatic skin barrier defect. Acta Physiol (Oxf) 232, e13628. https://doi.org/10.1111/apha.13628

- Wold, L.E., Hines, E.A.J., Allen, E.V., 1951. Lipedema of the legs; a syndrome characterized by fat legs and edema. Ann Intern Med 34, 1243–1250. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-34-5-1243
- Wolf, S., Deuel, J.W., Hollmén, M., Felmerer, G., Kim, B.-S., Vasella, M., Grünherz, L., Giovanoli, P.,
 Lindenblatt, N., Gousopoulos, E., 2021. A Distinct Cytokine Profile and Stromal Vascular Fraction
 Metabolic Status without Significant Changes in the Lipid Composition Characterizes Lipedema.
 International Journal of Molecular Sciences 22, 3313. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms22073313
- Wollina, U., Heinig, B., 2019. Treatment of lipedema by low-volume micro-cannular liposuction in tumescent anesthesia: Results in 111 patients. Dermatol Ther 32, e12820. https://doi.org/10.1111/dth.12820
- Wollina, U., Heinig, B., Nowak, A., 2014. Treatment of elderly patients with advanced lipedema: a combination of laser-assisted liposuction, medial thigh lift, and lower partial abdominoplasty. Clin Cosmet Investig Dermatol 7, 35–42. https://doi.org/10.2147/CCID.S56655
- Wounds UK, 2017. Best Practice Guidelines: The Management of Lipoedema. Wounds UK, London.
- Wright, T.F., 2022. Lipedema ICD 10, Outcomes of Lipedema Treatment and Comparable Measures.
- Wright, T.F., Herbst, K.L., 2021a. A 41-Year-Old Woman with Excessive Fat of the Lower Body Since Puberty with Progression to Swollen Ankles and Feet Despite Caloric Restriction, Due to Lipedema and Protein-Calorie Malnutrition: A Case of Stage 3 Lipedema. Am J Case Rep 22, e930306-1-e930306-6. https://doi.org/10.12659/AJCR.930306
- Wright, T.F., Herbst, K.L., 2021b. A Young Woman with Excessive Fat in Lower Extremities Develops Disordered Eating and Is Subsequently Diagnosed with Anorexia Nervosa, Lipedema, and Hypermobile Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome. Am J Case Rep 22, e930840-1-e930840-7. https://doi.org/10.12659/AJCR.930840
- Zaleska, M.T., Olszewski, W.L., Krzesniak, N.E., 2022. Lower Limb Lipedema-Superficial Lymph Flow, Skin Water Concentration, Skin and Subcutaneous Tissue Elasticity. Lymphat Res Biol. https://doi.org/10.1089/lrb.2022.0010
- Zampell, J.C., Aschen, S., Weitman, E.S., Yan, A., Elhadad, S., De Brot Andrade, M., Mehrara, B.J., 2012. Regulation of adipogenesis by lymphatic fluid stasis: part I. Adipogenesis, fibrosis, and inflammation. Plast Reconstr Surg 129, 825–834. https://doi.org/10.1097/PRS.0b013e3182450b2d
- Zechner, U., Kohlschmidt, N., Kempf, O., Gebauer, K., Haug, K., Engels, H., Haaf, T., Bartsch, O., 2009. Familial Sotos syndrome caused by a novel missense mutation, C2175S, in NSD1 and associated with normal intelligence, insulin dependent diabetes, bronchial asthma, and lipedema. Eur J Med Genet 52, 306–310. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejmg.2009.06.001
- Zhang, F., Zarkada, G., Yi, S., Eichmann, A., 2020. Lymphatic Endothelial Cell Junctions: Molecular Regulation in Physiology and Diseases. Frontiers in Physiology 11.